Abilene Christian University
Digital Commons @ ACU

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

4-2021

Relationship Between Medical-Surgical Nurse Manager Age, Level of Education, Gender, Tenure, and Staff Nurse Turnover

John B. Summers jxs11c@acu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.acu.edu/etd

Part of the Nursing Administration Commons

Recommended Citation

Summers, John B., "Relationship Between Medical-Surgical Nurse Manager Age, Level of Education, Gender, Tenure, and Staff Nurse Turnover" (2021). Digital Commons @ ACU, *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 340.

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ ACU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ ACU.

This dissertation, directed and approved by the candidate's committee, has been accepted by the College of Graduate and Professional Studies of Abilene Christian University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Education in Organizational Leadership

Nannette W. Stenn, M.A.

Dr. Nannette Glenn, Dean of the College of Graduate and Professional Studies

Date: March 23, 2021

Dissertation Committee:

Jeffry L. White

Dr. Jeffry White, Chair

Simone Elias

Dr. Simone Elias

andrhope

Dr. Andrew Lumpe

Abilene Christian University

School of Educational Leadership

Relationship Between Medical-Surgical Nurse Manager Age, Level of Education, Gender,

Tenure, and Staff Nurse Turnover

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education in Organizational Leadership

by

John B. Summers

April 2021

© Copyright by John Summers (2021)

All Rights Reserved

Abstract

Medical-surgical nursing unit nurse turnover rates of over 20% annually are consistently higher than other RN specialty turnover rates. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between medical-surgical nurses' ages, levels of education, and turnover intentions. Ninety-one medical-surgical nurse managers (NMs) recruited from the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex responded to the survey questionnaire. The study used inferential statistics. The result of the analyses showed a negative association between educational attainment and turnover rates; however, the relationship was insignificant, $r_s(91) = -.251$, p = .016. The second set of hypotheses considered the relationship between NMs' tenure and their units' turnover rates. The result showed a significant negative correlation between years as a manager and turnover rates, $r_s(91) = -.262$, p = .012. The third set of hypotheses considered the relationship between the NMs' ages and their units' turnover rates. The result showed a negative correlation between age and turnover, $r_s(91) = -.273$, p = .009. The fourth set of hypotheses considered the relationship between the NMs' genders and their units' turnover rates. The result showed a negative correlation between gender and turnover; however, the relationship was determined as insignificant, $r_s(91) = -.103$, p = .0.332.

Keywords: nurse manager and nursing turnover, nursing turnover, and nurse turnover intention

Table of Contents

Abstract	. ii
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	3
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Questions and Hypotheses	4
Definitions of Key Terms	5
Summary and Preview of the Next Chapter	5
Chapter 2: Literature Review	7
Literature Search Strategy	8
Theoretical Framework	8
Job Demands-Resources Theory	8
Nurse Turnover	14
Types of Turnover	15
Nurse Turnover Rates	16
Nurse Turnover Research	17
Impact of Nurse Turnover on Patient Care	22
Turnover Intention	25
Manager Characteristics and Staff Turnover	30
Nurse Managers and Staff Turnover	32
Promoting Retention	34
Summary	36
Chapter 3: Research Methods and Design	38
Research Approach and Design	38
Population	40
Sample	40
Setting and Context of the Study	41
Instrumentation	41
Turnover Rate	42
Independent Variables	42
Data Collection Procedures	42
Data Analysis Plan	43
Ethical Considerations	44
Assumptions	45
Summary and Preview of the Next Chapter	45

Chapter 4: Presentation and Analysis of Data	46
Data Collection Process Data Analysis Summary	47 47 50
Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion	52
Summary of Findings Interpretations of Findings Limitations Recommendations for Future Research Implications Conclusion	53 54 55 57 57 58
References	59
Appendix A:G*Power Analysis Output	75
Appendix B: Post Hoc Power Analysis Using G*Power	76
Appendix C: Demographic Survey	77
Appendix D: IRB Approval Form	78

List of Tables

Table 1. Variables, Scales of Measurement, Variable Type, and Operationalization42
Table 2. Statistical Tests for Null Hypotheses 44
Table 3. Frequencies and Percentages of Gender and Educational Attainment $(N = 91)48$
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics of Age, Years as Manager, and Turnover $(N = 91)$ 48
Table 5. Spearman's Correlation Matrix for Age, Years as Manager, and Turnover
(N = 91)

Figure 1. Job Demands-Resources Framework10	0
---	---

Chapter 1: Introduction

Medical-surgical (med-surg) nursing represents the largest U.S. nursing specialty, constituting approximately 650,000 of the 3.1 million registered nurses (RNs) working in the United States (Bureau of Labor Statistics [BLS], 2018). Med-surg nurses practice in both hospital units and surgical settings with acutely ill adult patients with a wide variety of medical issues or those recovering from surgery. Med-surg nurses face intense emotional experiences associated with patients' life and death decisions while caring for people at their most vulnerable times (Collini et al., 2015). Med-surg nurses manage care for multiple patients, administer medications, educate patients and families, and continuously develop critical thinking skills and knowledge of disease states and body systems while remaining calm under intense pressure (Ma et al., 2015). In addition to their daily patient care responsibilities, med-surg nurse managers (NMs) handle leadership, motivation, and management, med-surg nurse retention, and highquality patient care (Spano-Szekely et al., 2016).

NMs and healthcare administrators face the nurse turnover rate as a complex and formidable challenge (Collini et al., 2015). The problem of nurse turnover in a hospital setting is costly and disruptive to operations. Nursing Solutions (2018) estimated the cost of replacing a single hospital RN over \$58,000 at between \$1.4 and \$2.1 billion annually (Duffield et al., 2014). Leaders who invest in orientation and training, professional development, and support reduce nursing turnover and attendant operating costs (Collini et al., 2015). In addition to the monetary cost for hospitals, leaders who have high nurse turnover face placing patients at risk; significant associations exist between high nursing turnover rates and adverse patient outcomes (Collini et al., 2015).

Leaders face many factors regarding nurse turnover rates. For instance, Soomro (2020) defined a correlation between nursing leadership demographics and nursing turnover rates. Soomro defined leader tenure and education as significant factors to consider when predicting turnover intentions among nurses. Researchers have similarly noted that NM characteristics have shown a significant correlation to employee organizational commitment, indicating whether the employee stays or leaves, resulting in employee turnover (Kwon & Kang, 2019; Magbity et al., 2020; Sun & Wang, 2017). In addition to the age of nurses, nurses may change their intentions to stay based on their education levels (Soomro, 2020). For example, Kash et al. (2010) found that an employee with higher education than their manager would more likely leave their job compared to the opposite scenario. As such, researchers should examine NMs demographic characteristics, such as age and education, to decrease and lower turnover rates in hospitals (Kash et al., 2010; Soomro, 2020). In a more recent study, Magbity et al. (2020) added how NMs with certain characteristics, such as tenure and leadership style, have a direct impact on the turnover rates in hospitals.

Researchers can use the key principles of the job demands-resources theory to understand the relationship between manager demographic characteristics and staff turnover (Bakker, 2007; Hoonakker et al., 2013; Magbity et al., 2020; Van der Heijden et al., 2018). Researchers have commonly used the job demands-resources theory when examining turnover intention factors (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017; Van der Heijden et al., 2018). Job demands-resources theorists have posited that vital components and dimensions of work environments need to be considered to influence employees' quality and performances or induce absenteeism and turnover (Bakker, 2007; Hoonakker et al., 2013), including employee and leaders' personal characteristics and demographic factors (Bakker, 2007; Hoonakker et al., 2013). Regarding nursing, researchers may link NMs' tenure and education levels to turnover, as each may have differing levels of work suitability, work significance, and leadership attributes, which impact nurses' intent to stay (Iguchi, 2016).

Statement of the Problem

Researchers have shown med-surg nursing unit nurse turnover rates of over 20% annually as consistently higher than other RN specialty turnover rates (Roche et al., 2015). Nurses who work on med-surg units face turnover for many reasons. Ciocco (2014) found that med-surg nurses could face higher burnout levels than other specialty areas, leading to high turnover rates. For example, med-surg nurses face high nurse-patient ratios, leadership support, autonomy, and professional status (Staggs & Dunton, 2012). Hayward et al. (2016) indicated that med-surg nurses had among the highest intentions to leave their units.

Researchers found that certain NMs' factors might be correlated with nursing turnover rates (Kwon & Kang, 2019; Magbity et al., 2020; Sun & Wang, 2017; Yoo & Kim, 2016). Magbity et al. (2020) found a significant relationship between education and tenure of emergency department NMs with turnover intention. Similarly, Yoo and Kim (2016) proposed that NMs' education and leadership training might be correlated to critical care nursing turnover rates. Because med-surg nursing has the highest nursing turnover rates, researchers should examine the characteristics of med-surg NMs to understand how to reduce staff nurse turnover rates. Researchers have yet to focus on this topic of med-surg nursing in existing literature, indicating a gap in knowledge regarding the relationship between staff nurse turnover intentions and med-surg NMs' ages, genders, tenure, and levels of education.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between med-surg NM's ages, levels of education, tenure, genders, and turnover rates on their units. Researchers have associated med-surg nursing turnover rates with lower-quality patient care and diminished patient outcomes (Griffiths et al., 2008), poor patient satisfaction (O'Brien-Pallas et al., 2010), and high costs for the hospital (Carter & Tourangeau, 2012). Statistics have shown that the demographic factors of nurses are significantly associated with turnover rates (Kash et al., 2010; Soomro, 2020; Sun & Wang, 2017). Although not healthcare-specific, researchers have defined leader demographic factors as associated with employee turnover rates (Matarid et al., 2018; Sun & Wang, 2017).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The research questions and hypotheses included the following:

RQ1: What is the relationship between NMs' educational level and their units' turnover rates?

*H*₀1: There is no statistically significant relationship between the educational level of NMs and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the educational level of NMs and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ2: What is the relationship between NMs' tenure and their units' turnover rates?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' tenure and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a2 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' tenure and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ3: What is the relationship between the NMs' age and their units' turnover rates?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' age and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a3 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' age and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ4: What is the relationship between NMs' gender and their units' turnover rates?

 H_04 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' gender and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a4 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' gender and nursing turnover rates on their units.

Definitions of Key Terms

To establish a common understanding, I provide definitions for several terms and concepts used in the study.

Nurse manager (NM). A nurse manager (NM) refers to the formal leader of a nursing unit responsible for daily operations, including staff management (Raup, 2008).

Nurse unit turnover. For this study, turnover was synonymous with the term voluntary turnover. Krausz (2002) defined voluntary turnover as an employee who would voluntarily leave an organization or department within an organization.

Summary and Preview of the Next Chapter

Healthcare leaders will face a shortage of up to 500,000 nurses by 2022, creating significant challenges for healthcare delivery systems (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2014). Researchers have correlated nursing turnover rates with demographic factors, such as age and education (Kash et al., 2010). Literature has shown that leaders must understand

demographic factors to influence nurses' professional turnover intentions (Arslan Yürümezoğlu et al., 2019). However, there is a lack of research about the link between med-surg NMs' characteristics, such as age, level of education, and turnover intentions (Labrague et al., 2018a).

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between med-surg NMs' ages, levels of education, genders, tenure, and staff turnover rates. Nursing organization leaders may develop strategies to decrease turnover once they understand the underlying causes better. Chapter 2 includes a description of the literature search strategy, the state/trait variants to job demands-resources theory, and research on the following study variables: nurse turnover and the NM demographic factors of educational attainment, gender, tenure, and age.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Those who work in the health care industry often face intense emotional experiences. Nurses face life and death issues in addition to caring for people in vulnerable positions. Therefore, nurses face increased stress and turnover; however, turnover and retention factors are diverse. Van der Heijden et al. (2018) indicated a relationship occurred between demographics and intention to stay or leave among employees; when researchers analyzed age and education, they found significant correlations with turnover intentions within a nursing unit (Smith et al., 2019; Van der Heijden et al., 2018). Statistics showed that nurses decided to remain in their positions based on their NMs' educational attainment, tenure, and leadership style (Alsubhi et al., 2020; Bello et al., 2020; Magbity et al., 2020; Majeed & Jamshed, 2020; Sule & Omoankhalen, 2019).

Medical leaders who have high nursing turnover can face several negative outcomes, including poorer patient outcomes (Griffiths et al., 2008), decreased levels of patient satisfaction (O'Brien-Pallas et al., 2010), and increased costs for hospitals (Carter & Tourangeau, 2012). Therefore, researchers should examine this topic further, exploring the demographic variables that are significantly correlated to turnover intention. This chapter includes the research about nurse turnover, its impact on hospital and patient care, and the relevant measurements about the theoretical constructs of the job demands-resources theory. I discuss the job demands-resources theory regarding its applicability to themes concerning demographic variables of age, tenure and education, and possible impacts on nursing turnover.

Chapter 2 includes a review of the literature on nurse turnover, types of turnover, nurse turnover rates, nurse turnover research, impact of nurse turnover on patient care, NM characteristics, NM effect on turnover, NM age and turnover intention, NM educational attainment and turnover intention, NM gender and turnover intention, NM tenure and turnover intention and promoting retention. Finally, I conclude Chapter 2 with a summary of key findings. Overall, I organized Chapter 2 to review the literature search strategy, theoretical foundation, literature related to key variables, and summary of the chapter.

Literature Search Strategy

I searched the following online databases: Academy of Management, Google Scholar, SAGE Journals, ScienceDirect, Taylor & Francis Online, and Wiley Online Library. I used the Google search engine in all cases, except when using a proprietary database and search engine was required. The development of keywords occurred iteratively and included the following: *demographic factors of nurses, demographic factors that impact nurse retention, factors that impact nurse retention, NM and turnover, NM educational attainment and turnover, NM tenure and turnover, NM gender and turnover, nurse turnover, nurse retention, leadership and turnover*, and *manager and turnover and staff retention strategies*. The literature review included peer-reviewed journal articles, books, and dissertations. I used literature published between 2016 and 2020 as the primary period of study. However, I studied earlier works when researching the theoretical foundation to ascertain its origins, applications, and evolution over the years. Approximately 85% of the studies were quantitative, and only 15% were qualitative. I chose the articles based on retention-referenced demographic factors related to both turnover and retention across different industries, specifically among nurses.

Theoretical Framework

Job Demands-Resources Theory

I chose the job demands-resources theory as the study's theoretical framework. Bakker and Demerouti (2017) stated researchers introduced this theoretical framework in international literature more than two decades ago. Commonly used as a theoretical framework for examining factors of employee turnover intention, researchers have used the job demands-resources theory to explore the influence of a manager's characteristics, gender, age, and education on staff turnover intention (Hoonakker et al., 2013; Van der Heijden et al., 2018). Job demands-resources theorists have defined job demands and job resources as two vital components and dimensions of work environments that influence either the employee's quality and performance or absenteeism and turnover (Bakker, 2007; Hoonakker et al., 2013). According to Bakker (2007), job demands refer to physical, psychological, social, and organizational characteristics of a job. An employee uses physical and psychological costs (Bakker, 2007). In addition, job resources refer to the psychological and social support provided by the employee's manager. Employees need such characteristics to attain their personal or professional goals (Bakker, 2007). Figure 1 shows the job demands-resources theory as a framework of this study to explain med-surg NMs' ages, levels of education, genders, tenure, and staff nurse turnover.

Figure 1

Job Demands-Resources Framework



Note. Job Demands-Resources Framework. Adapted from "Using the Job-Demands-Resources Model to Predict Turnover in the Information Technology Workforce–General Effects and Gender Differences" by Hoonakker et al., 2013, *Horizons of Psychology, 22*(1), 5, Copyright 2013 by Peter L. T. Hoonakker. Adapted with permission.

Researchers have linked these two vital components and dimensions of job demands and job resources to the employee's well-being and attitudinal outcomes (Hoonakker et al., 2013). For example, an employee experiencing high levels of demands will likely experience increased stress and burnout resulting in absenteeism and turnover intention. In contrast, employees who experience manager or leadership support may have enhanced motivation and positive job attitudes resulting in job satisfaction and employee commitment (Bakker, 2007; Hoonakker et al., 2013).

Another key principle of the job demands-resources theory includes that the associations between job demands, resources, and outcomes are mediated by negative, strain reactions (i.e., burnout and emotional exhaustion; Bakker, 2007). In addition, a person can mediate these associations using motivational processes, such as job satisfaction and commitment (Bakker, 2007; Hoonakker et al., 2013). Researchers have further related work-to-family conflict, personal characteristics, and demographics to an employee's intention to stay or leave based on the job demands-resources theory (Hoonakker et al., 2013; Van der Heijden et al., 2018).

Researchers have related personal characteristics and demographics to work-related attitudes and behaviors (Hoonakker et al., 2013; Van der Heijden et al., 2018). Van der Heijden et al. (2018) and Parasuraman (1982) defined manager and staff demographic variables as having significant effects on employee turnover intentions over indirect effects on turnover intention through factors of satisfaction and involvement. Van der Heijden et al. (2018) further justified this finding when examining job characteristics and experiences as predictors of occupational turnover intention and occupational turnover in the European nursing sector. Van der Heijden et al. used the job demands-resources theory as the framework and showed that job resources, ages, and experiences in the nursing profession were negatively related with nursing turnover intentions. Additionally, the researchers defined the quality of nurse leadership, professional developmental opportunities provided by NMs, and social support from NMs as significant factors that impact staff nurse turnover intentions (Van der Heijden et al., 2018). The researchers defined the job demands-resources theory as a robust theoretical framework for examining turnover intention and exit behavior, indicating an explanatory mechanism for predicting

turnover intentions by determining factors of the turnover variable (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017; Hoonakker et al., 2013; Van der Heijden et al., 2018).

Aside from Van der Heijden et al. (2018), Iguchi (2016) and Kaiser et al. (2020) utilized the job demands-resources theory to examine and analyze turnover intention, specifically among healthcare workers. For example, Iguchi (2016) examined the factors related to turnover intentions of public health nurses. Through the lens of job demands-resources theory and questionnaires to gather data among female nurses, researchers have defined four factors as significantly influencing the structure of job demands and job resources leading to turnover intention: work suitability and leadership support, quality of leadership, leaders' professional development for staff nurses, leader emotional intelligence (EI), work significance, positive work self-balance, and growth opportunity of job resources (Iguchi, 2016; Majeed & Jamshed, 2020; Van der Heijden et al., 2019). Iguchi (2016) studied nurses but did not include the demographics or personal characteristics of the respondents, as the study only included female nurses.

Kaiser et al. (2020) also used the job demands-resources theory to evaluate work-related outcomes among 489 healthcare professionals. The authors studied healthcare professionals working in public health services for children and their families in Norway based on the job demands-resources theory as the framework (Kaiser et al., 2020). The findings of their multilevel structural equation model analysis showed that job demands and job resources were important predictors of employee well-being and organizational outcomes (Kaiser et al., 2020). The researchers related job demand and burnout significantly to turnover intentions among healthcare professionals (Kaiser et al., 2020).

Like Iguchi (2016), Kaiser et al. (2020) did not focus or include the leadership demographic factors of their respondents. Moreover, Kaiser et al. did not focus on nurses, focusing on healthcare professionals instead. This pool of findings showed empirical justification regarding the robustness of the job demands-resources theory as a framework for indicating factors that impact turnover intention among nurses. However, the researchers did not focus on the demographic factors of nurse respondents in the extant literature (Iguchi, 2016; Kaiser et al., 2020).

This gap in literature is vital to address because the relationship between manager demographic factors and labor turnover cannot be overemphasized. According to Sule and Omoankhalen (2019), "the work leaves the worker due to retrenchment and others (involuntary turnover) or the worker will leave the work perhaps because of lack of leadership or any other organizational deficits" (p. 32). Emiroğlu et al. (2015) concurred with these assertions and defined turnover intention as dependent on demographic factors of both the employee and manager (e.g., gender, age, educational level, and tenure). As such, each demographic variable impacts the turnover intention of the employee differently and uniquely. Emiroğlu et al. further examined the relationship between turnover intention and demographic factors in hotel businesses in Istanbul (2015). The researchers used t tests and ANOVA tests and defined the demographic factors of age, gender, marital status, education and tenure, wage, position, working department, and turnover intention as determinant factors of turnover intention. Omindo et al. (2020) examined the relationship between leadership and labor turnover of staff among private schools. Using a descriptive survey design, the authors surveyed 204 employees. Findings showed that leaders' experience and practices had a significant impact on labor turnover (Omindo et al., 2020).

Despite these findings, a lack of literature exists about the impact of NM demographic factors on turnover intention among U.S. nurses (Emiroğlu et al., 2015; Sule & Omoankhalen,

2019). Past researchers who have examined or focused on nurses' turnover intentions, and researchers have yet to explore factors associated with this variable, such as demographic factors (Adebiyi et al., 2020; Arslan Yürümezoğlu et al., 2019). Most researchers of nursing turnover intention have focused on organizational commitment, job satisfaction, workload, and stress (Arslan Yürümezoğlu et al., 2019; Obiechina, 2019). In this study, I examined variables of NM demographics and the possible impacts on turnover intention among nurses using the job demands-resources theory as the framework to bridge this gap in knowledge and contribute to the literature on turnover intention among nurses.

Nurse Turnover

Leaders facing nurse turnover in a hospital setting face costly problems. The consequences of nurse turnover include decreased morale of staff who stay, loss of productive high performers, and the cost to hire and train new employees (Soomro, 2020). Subramony and Holtom (2012) discussed the major financial impact of turnover regardless of the size of the organization. Hom et al. (2012) stated that the recruitment, onboarding, and training costs of hiring a new employee could cost double the annual salary of an employee. Furthermore, Jones and Gates (2007) estimated the cost of replacing a single nurse was over \$60,000. Brewer et al. (2012) estimated the annual cost of nursing turnover at \$1.4 to \$2.1 billion. Leaders who have high nursing turnover rates face greatly reduced hospital operating budgets, requiring additional funding on advertising, recruiting, orientation, and training. In addition to the monetary costs for hospitals, leaders who have high nursing turnover rates place patients at risk. Castle and Engberg (2005) and O'Brien-Pallas et al. (2010) found significant associations between high nursing turnover rates and adverse patient outcomes.

Types of Turnover

Hom and Griffeth (1995) defined two major types of turnover: voluntary and involuntary. Wilson et al. (2010) defined voluntary turnover as an employee willingly leaving an organization. Krausz (2002) defined involuntary turnover as leadership terminating a contract between the employee and organization. Voluntary turnover refers to the most prevalent form of turnover and occurs when an employee chooses to leave an organization (Lynch & Tuckey, 2008). Involuntary turnover can occur when an employer asks the employee to leave or can result from an external factor (e.g., injury, illness, or death; Lynch & Tuckey, 2008).

Because high turnover can result in a negative impact on an organization, many researches have studied turnover (Allen et al., 2010; Hom et al., 2012). Hausknecht and Trevor (2011) summarized their meta-analysis of 115 turnover related research articles: In addition to the financial implications of lost training and recruitment expenditures, leaders who face high turnover may face the collective loss of employees with the skills and knowledge to have a productive value within the organization. Additionally, the remaining members must handle training and building new interpersonal relationships (Hausknecht & Trevor, 2011). Employees may contemplate leaving based on the resultant decrease of staff morale.

Although turnover refers to the actual measure of staff leaving an organization, turnover intention refers to staff contemplating leaving the organization (Rizwan et al., 2013). Researchers have closely linked turnover intention to staff level engagement (Twigg & McCullough, 2014). Hayes et al. (2010) associated multiple factors with turnover intention, including collaboration with peers, recognition, professional development, perceived value to the organization, relationship with leadership, work schedules, compensation, and benefits. Although one should understand turnover intention, turnover intention does not equate to one leaving the organization. Cowden et al. (2011) indicated that one having turnover intention did not necessarily mean they would leave the organization. Griffeth et al. (2000) conducted a metaanalysis of employee turnover. The researchers defined turnover intention as the best predictor of employees leaving; however, the researchers stated that studying actual turnover would more accurately show why employees would leave.

Nurse Turnover Rates

Cross-national assessments showed that turnover rates differed based on the nation (Duffield et al., 2014). Researchers examined turnover rates in four countries: the United States, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand. The researchers aimed to measure and compare the rates and costs of turnover. The researchers used multiple sources to determine rates, including Medline and the Business Source Complete. After compiling data and using the nursing turnover cost calculation model, Duffield et al. (2014) found that leadership in Australia reported termination occurring at a more frequent rate, leading to increased temporary replacement costs. In comparison, the researchers defined costs associated with nursing turnover as 50% lower in the United States, Canada, and New Zealand.

Despite Australia showing the highest turnover costs, leaders in New Zealand reported the highest turnover rates (Duffield et al., 2014). Australia leaders reported the lowest turnover rates but the highest turnover costs. The findings showed that leaders defined turnover costs as not necessarily associated with higher turnover rates but defined replacement costs as a large contributor to turnover costs. This finding showed the importance of organization leaders retaining nursing staff (Duffield et al., 2014). Researchers also noted that leaders facing increased turnover rates faced costs to their organizations because of costs associated with attracting new employees. Researchers estimated that about 17.5% of new nurses left their jobs within their first years (Kovner et al., 2014). However, the researchers noted conflicting definitions of turnover existed. In some cases, turnover referred to both involuntary and voluntary leaving. In other cases, the definition was more restricted. Duffield et al. (2014) defined turnover as inclusive of involuntary departure. Kovner et al. (2014) indicated that future researchers required more consistent definitions of turnover to ensure that results in studying the turnover rate showed consistent outcomes. Duffield et al. (2014) discussed the lack of consistent definitions for turnover and noted that researchers complicated studies of turnover rates because of differences in study design, metrics, and definitions for turnover.

Globally, medical leaders face a significant shortage of nurses (Armstrong et al., 2017). Despite the shortage, researchers have predicated the nursing field would remain one of the fastest growing by 2022. However, researchers warned that 37% of nurses considered a change in jobs within their first years, and 13% did change jobs. Other negative effects occur in the nursing industry; for example, researchers have related an estimated 19% of all nurse absenteeism to personal issues due to families and responsibilities (Armstrong et al., 2017).

Nurse Turnover Research

Researchers have defined nurse workload as predictive of turnover (Subramony et al., 2018). Researchers reported that effective patient care was often enhanced when nurses had a higher patient volume. However, researchers have defined higher turnover as predictive of reducing high patient quality and influencing the improvement of patient care. As turnover increased, patient mortality increased. Another factor in turnover included a lack of adequate staffing (Park et al., 2014). Researchers have found that leaders facing poor staffing would experience increased turnover, thereby exacerbating the turnover problem (Park et al., 2014).

Researchers in China have associated numerous factors with turnover intentions (Chen et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2017). Yang et al. (2017) identified whether factors in Western countries also contributed to turnover in China. The researchers used a sample of 800 nurses with less than one year of work experience and classified turnover intentions on a range from very weak to very strong (Yang et al., 2017). The researchers identified work pressure as the most prominent factor influencing turnover intentions (Yang et al., 2017). The researchers noted that factors associated with work pressure included less experience, higher workload, and a specific age group of workers (Yang et al., 2017). Those within the 30 to 39 age brackets would most likely intend to leave their jobs. Chen et al. (2018) also studied nurse turnover intentions in China by examining nurse turnover intention factors. Through a cross-sectional study, the authors surveyed 1,978 nurses working in 48 hospitals, measuring levels of intent to leave and factors associated to this variable (Chen et al., 2018). The findings showed that turnover intention was significantly influenced by work environment, hospital affairs, resource adequacy, age, professional title, tenure, employment type, and education level (Chen et al., 2018). The authors concluded and asserted the need to investigate this topic further, as nurse turnover intention or the resignation rate of nurses continue, as high as 12.7% (Chen et al., 2018). This body of knowledge showed the problem of nurse turnover intention, as high rates of nurse turnover could lead to detrimental outcomes, especially for patients (Chen et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2017).

Researchers in Korea found two separate variables that might impact turnover intentions (Kim & Lee, 2014). Kim and Lee (2014) studied 297 nurses from across three general hospitals in two separate Korean cities. The researchers generated data from responses to self-administered questionnaires and analyzed the results using various data analysis methods. Then, the researchers identified both emotional labor and job satisfaction as predictors of turnover.

Emotional labor refers to the ability to manage one's feelings, and researchers associated an inability to do so with a higher desire to leave the job. Similarly, researchers also associated low levels of job satisfaction with higher turnover intentions (Kim & Lee, 2014). These results indicated that organization leaders should attempt to help employees manage their emotional responses better to increase job satisfaction.

Researchers have explored the impact of work support and the potential for career advancement, discovering the importance of the work environment (Yang et al., 2015). Yang et al. (2015) compiled a sample of 526 nurses from eight hospitals in China. Yang et al. used the Work Support Scale, Nurse Turnover Intention Scale, and Organizational Career Growth Scale. After analyzing the data, the researchers found that a lack of work support was more likely to cause higher turnover intentions. Employees stated feelings of work support strengthened when facing career advancement opportunities, with researchers linking career advancement opportunities to turnover intentions (Yang et al., 2015). Consequently, the researchers concluded that a lack of career growth opportunities and work support was likely to drive higher desires to leave the job.

Researchers have also identified violations of the psychological contracts and low chances for advancement as reasons that nurses might depart from their positions (Takase et al., 2014). Takase et al. (2014) identified 1,337 potential participants and recruited 766 RNs and midwives from Japan. The researchers found that when nurses believed leaders violated established mutual expectations within the psychological contract, nurses would more likely want to leave their jobs. Researchers rarely mentioned this psychological contract in the literature about nurse turnover, making this study significant. Researchers identified the second factor contributing to turnover intentions as the lack of career advancement (Takase et al., 2014). This finding was like other studies' findings that similarly showed a lack of career opportunities as contributors to turnover intentions (Mazurenko et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2015).

Although many researchers of nurse turnover used quantitative explorations, researchers also used qualitative approaches to understand better why nurses left their jobs (Hayward et al., 2016). Hayward et al. (2016) conducted interviews with 12 nurses who, on average, had spent 16 years practicing in the medical field. These nurses came from a variety of acute care inpatient environments. Following the collection of data from interviews, the researchers concluded that several factors promoted increased turnover. When the workload increased, when working relationships declined, when leadership was poor, and when there was higher patient acuity, nurse intention to leave and turnover increased (Hayward et al., 2016).

Dawson et al. (2014) conducted another qualitative exploration of nursing turnover by exploring experiences of turnover in Australian hospitals. Dawson et al. studied responses from 362 nurses in a national survey in three Australian territories. After analyzing the responses from these nurses, the researchers identified several reasons nurses might leave their positions. Staff who faced limited career opportunities, lack of recognition, poor support, and negative attitudes had increased turnover rates. Nurses reported working with a poor ratio of patients to staff and having an inappropriate mix of skills. Nurses rarely helped with decision making in their units, especially when facing rising patient demands. Therefore, nurses reported stress increased alongside increasing workloads, indicating a feeling of disempowerment (Dawson et al., 2014). Therefore, this qualitative exploration showed the negative circumstances that nurses faced, which led to increased turnover.

Nurses differ in why they decide to leave the profession or organization (Mazurenko et al., 2015). Researchers examined 8,796 nurses, drawing on data from the 2008 National Sample

Survey of RNs. Following data analysis, the researchers concluded that nurses who left the profession left because of work-related disabilities, burnout, illness, high physical demands, dissatisfaction with scheduling, and staffing arrangements. In contrast, nurses who left their jobs but stayed within the profession left because of dissatisfaction with leadership, dissatisfaction with career advancement opportunities, and poor compensation (Mazurenko et al., 2015). The findings showed that nurses left the profession rather than just their jobs for significantly different reasons.

Researchers have associated many factors with nurses leaving their companies. According to O'Brien-Pallas et al. (2010), some predominant factors precipitating nursing turnover include work hours, workload, teamwork, working relationships with leaders, professional development, autonomy, and stress levels. Stimpfel et al. (2012) discussed 12-hour nursing shifts as creating a hardship for nursing. Nurses who worked shifts 10 hours or more were almost three times more likely to experience issues (e.g., job dissatisfaction and burnout) compared to nurses who worked shorter shifts. Earlier researchers seemed to minimize the importance of scheduling and hours worked, stating that less than 6% of the variance of intent to stay was related to scheduling.

Karantzas et al. (2012) found a large correlation with RN turnover and an unsupportive work environment. Supervisor support was the largest component of determining a healthy work environment, and the findings showed an inverse relationship between staff perceived support and intention to leave (Karantzas et al., 2012). Researchers defined the quality of working relationships, particularly supervisor relationships, as having the largest impact on a nurse's intention to stay within an organization. Supervisor relationships remain one of the largest components of a nurse's job satisfaction (Galletta et al., 2013).

Impact of Nurse Turnover on Patient Care

Several notable consequences exist for patients when nurse turnover occurs, such as the resulting increase in mortality rates (Subramony et al., 2018). Leaders face increased mortality from increased turnover. Antwi and Bowblis (2016) defined nurse turnover as influencing mortality. The researchers examined the impact of turnover and found that when nurse turnover increased by 10%, a 19.3% increase in annual deficiencies would occur. The researchers defined this finding as resulting in lower rankings of inpatient quality associated with an increase in mortality (Antwi & Bowblis, 2016).

Researchers have stated that turnover of nurses can lead to negative patient outcomes. According to O'Brien-Pallas et al. (2010), leaders must manage turnover within nursing units to achieve high-quality patient care. Some researchers have associated turnover with an increase in "unit-acquired pressure ulcer rates" (Park et al., 2014, p. 1205). Park et al. (2014) obtained data from the National Database of Nursing Quality Indicators and analyzed a total of 2,294 units across 465 hospitals. The researchers found a significant impact of turnover occurred on unitacquired pressure ulcers. Pressure ulcer rates increased by 4% every time that turnover increased by 10% within a single yearly quarter. The relationship was significant enough that the researchers recommended that hospital administrators should prepare for increased pressure ulcers during periods when turnover increased (Park et al., 2014).

Studies into turnover indicated many reasons why turnover and retention could occur. Workload (Subramony et al., 2018), work pressure (Yang et al., 2017), and burnout (Dyrbye et al., 2017) were a few of the factors associated with turnover. Likewise, leaders could encourage retention by increasing job satisfaction (Armstrong et al., 2017) and reducing job strain (Nei et al., 2015), among other actions. O'Brien-Pallas et al. (2010) delved further into this by examining the impact and determinants of nurse turnover in a Canadian hospital. The authors examined and analyzed nurse surveys, unit managers, medical records, and human resource databases, showing that various factors impacted high turnover rates in Canadian hospitals (reportedly at 20%; O'Brien-Pallas et al., 2010). Their findings showed that lower job satisfaction was significantly related to turnover (O'Brien-Pallas et al., 2010). Tschannen et al. (2010) concluded similar findings when examining the relationship between missed nursing care, nurse turnover, and intention to leave. The authors used a cross-sectional approach, examining the staff working in 110 patient-care units in 10 acute-care hospitals. The findings showed that patient-care units with higher rates of missed care ($\beta = .302$, p < .0001) and absenteeism ($\beta = .247$, p = .034) had more nurses with intentions to leave (Tschannen et al., 2010).

Similar to the findings of O'Brien-Pallas et al. (2010), Tschannen et al. (2010) linked low levels of satisfaction to intentions to leave (and subsequent turnover). Smith et al. (2019) concurred and defined nurse job enjoyment as vital in addressing intentions to leave. Smith et al. also explored the relationships among missed nursing care, job enjoyment, and intention to leave for neonatal nurses. Using a cross-sectional design, the authors examined secondary data from the 2016 National Database of Nursing Quality Indicators RN Survey and found that 15% of nurses intended to leave their jobs (Smith et al., 2019). Further findings showed that intentions to leave neonatal nurse jobs occurred due to decreases in job enjoyment, resulting in missed nursing care, and decreased quality of patient care (Smith et al., 2019).

As such, these findings indicated empirical knowledge on the factors that would lead to turnover and retention among nurses, specifically due to low levels of satisfaction, enjoyment, job strain, and stress, among others (Smith et al., 2019; Tschannen et al., 2010). Researchers and leaders should acknowledge these factors to decrease the risk of turnover intentions among nurses, which could lead to decreased patient care. NMs need to determine and address nurse turnover intention to ensure high-quality patient care (Smith et al., 2019).

Researchers have stated that turnover of nurses occur due to significantly high burnout rates. For instance, Chang et al. (2018) explored the impact of burnout on self-efficacy, outcome expectations, career interest, and nurse turnover. Using a cross-sectional design, the authors employed full-time nurses in their study, measuring burnout, self-efficacy, outcome expectations, career interest, and intent to stay (Chang et al., 2018). The findings showed that overall intents to leave among nurses were influenced by burnout levels (Chang et al., 2018). In turn, high turnover of nurses would lead to decreased patient outcomes (Chang et al., 2018). Kelly et al. (2020) reported similar findings, exploring the impact of nurse burnout on organizational and position turnover. The authors examined and surveyed 1,688 direct care nurses in three hospitals and showed that turnover was significantly high among nurses due to burnout reports (Kelly et al., 2020). Additionally, the impact of burnout on nurse turnover was significantly high, resulting in decreased patient care, as hospitals became understaffed (Kelly et al., 2020).

Furthermore, O'Brien-Pallas et al. (2010) showed how turnover of nurses could lead to increased job ambiguity, increased role conflict, and increased likelihood of medical error. Alsubhi et al. (2020) noted similar findings when examining nursing care and nurses' intentions to leave through an integrative review. The authors reviewed eight existing qualitative and quantitative studies on the topic and showed that turnover intention of nurses could lead to missed nursing care (Alsubhi et al., 2020). Alsubhi et al. (2020) also found that nurses with intentions to leave would more likely have lower performances and abilities in coordinating and providing care interventions properly, leading to errors and mistakes. As such, leaders must decrease the chances of turnover intentions among nurses to ensure high-quality patient care,

which merit the need to examine further the factors linked to turnover intention in this cohort (Kelly et al., 2020; O'Brien-Pallas et al., 2010). Nurses' intentions to leave could lead to decreased patient care and, ultimately, inadequate staffing (Alsubhi et al., 2020).

Sasso et al. (2019) also found that nurse staffing impacted nurses' intentions to leave, further leading to a decreased quality of patient care. The authors further examined the factors related to intention to leave among nurses and turnover. Through a cross-sectional approach, the authors surveyed 3,667 med-surg nurses in Italy, measuring factors of intention to leave, work environment, burnout, job satisfaction, and missed care (Sasso et al., 2019). The findings showed that 36% of nurses intended to leave their jobs, and 33% intended to leave the nursing profession altogether. The authors further found that nurses with intentions to leave experienced job dissatisfaction, understaffing, emotional exhaustion, poor patient safety, and performing nonnursing care (Sasso et al., 2019). Researchers should examine this finding further because nurses' intentions to leave their jobs, causing turnover, contributed to the shortage of nurses, leading to a decreased quality of patient care (Alsubhi et al., 2020; Sasso et al., 2019).

Turnover Intention

Researchers have tested age and turnover. Researchers have identified age as a significant variable associated with turnover intention (Bello et al., 2020; Sule & Omoankhalen, 2019). Sule and Omoankhalen (2019) examined age, marital status, and level of education and the relationships with turnover intention among academic staff of private higher institutions. Using employee retention theory as a theoretical framework, the researchers found older aged employees were more likely to stay in their organizations, while younger employees were more likely to have intent to leave (Sule & Omoankhalen, 2019). In an older study, Rhodes (1983) found concurrent findings and noted that younger employees were more likely to leave their

organizations than older employees. The author noted that younger employees often had lower job satisfaction and organizational commitment, leading to turnover intention (Rhodes, 1983). After many years, Bello et al. (2020) still noted these findings when investigating the demographic factors related to labor turnover in a manufacturing company. The authors examined age, work experience, and educational attainment, gathering survey data from 150 employees (Bello et al., 2020). The findings showed a significant effect of age on labor turnover in the manufacturing company (Bello et al., 2020). Furthermore, their findings indicated that educational qualification and labor turnover were significantly related (Bello et al., 2020). This pool of knowledge showed the importance of analyzing age as a demographic factor influencing turnover intention among employees (Bello et al., 2020; Rhodes, 1983; Sule & Omoankhalen, 2019). More research is needed regarding the relationship between age and turnover intention among nurses.

Other authors have underscored age in examining labor turnover. Researchers have noted that in general, younger employees are more likely to leave their jobs, as they are hastier in making decisions to leave an organization (Soomro, 2020). Kwon and Kang (2019) and Sun and Wang (2017) noted this finding in their studies, defining age as significantly influencing employees' decisions to remain in or quit an organization. Kwon and Kang (2019) noted that employees aged 45 and below would more likely have intent to leave their organizations. Soomro (2020) attempted to explain this phenomenon, underscoring that younger employees seemed intrinsically more uncertain than their older counterparts. Furthermore, younger employees tended to have more options and job opportunities than their older counterparts (Soomro, 2020). Hence, younger employees had lower levels of organizational commitment than

older employees (Soomro, 2020). As such, this body of findings showed empirical knowledge regarding age and its role on turnover intention.

Due to low levels of organizational commitment, hasty employee decision making, and more options and job opportunities among younger employees, young nurses are more likely to leave an organization. Labrague et al. (2018a, 2018b) also noted this finding, examining Filipino nurses. For instance, Labrague et al. (2018a) examined the factors influencing turnover intention among RNs in Samar, Philippines. Using a descriptive, cross-sectional approach, the authors studied 166 nurses and measured their demographics, work satisfaction, and work stress levels (Labrague et al., 2018a). Using descriptive and inferential statistical tools, the findings showed that nurses' ages were significantly related to turnover intentions (Labrague et al., 2018a). Younger nurses had higher intentions to leave their healthcare organization than the older ones. Also, their findings showed that job satisfaction and job stress were influential in driving turnover intentions in this cohort (Labrague et al., 2018a).

Labrague et al. (2018b) conducted a similar study in the Philippines, focusing on organizational commitment and turnover intention among rural nurses. The authors utilized a cross-sectional research design and tasked 166 nurses to answer surveys related to organizational commitment and turnover intention (Labrague et al., 2018b). The results showed that Filipino nurses' ages were significantly correlated to turnover intention, while an inverse relationship was found between organizational commitment and turnover intention (Labrague et al., 2018b). Like Labrague et al. (2018a), Labrague et al. (2018b) concluded that younger nurses were more likely to have turnover intentions than their older counterparts. This body of findings seemed consistent to those of past researchers, such as Kwon and Kang (2019), Soomro (2020), and Sun and Wang (2017). This topic is worth investigating further, specifically among U.S. nurses, as past
researchers of turnover intention, examining demographics factors of age and education, have only focused on Filipino nurses.

Similar to other researchers, Tourigny and Lituchy (2016) stated that younger nurses were more at risk of leaving the hospital. The researchers provided detailed statistical findings on the reasons that younger nurses contributed more to turnover rates than older nurses. The authors focused on occupational mental health and job attitudes among younger, middle-age, and older nurses (Tourigny & Lituchy, 2016). Among 252 hospital nurses from Trinidad and Tobago, the findings showed that younger nurses tended to leave their healthcare organizations because of high levels of stress and feelings of inadequacy in the job (Tourigny & Lituchy, 2016). Further, the authors found that younger nurses had significantly higher levels of stress, burnout, and depression symptoms while reporting low levels of job satisfaction and organizational commitment. Researchers found the extent of these factors considerably higher than middle-age and older nurses (Tourigny & Lituchy, 2016).

In line with Tourigny and Lituchy's (2016) findings, Burmeister et al. (2019) concluded similar results when determining factors associated with nurses' intentions to leave their positions and absenteeism. Conducting their study among nurses globally, the authors examined secondary data from direct-care RNs' responses to surveys from seven countries. Their findings showed that although the level of absenteeism and intent to leave varied significantly across countries, age was significantly associated (Burmeister et al., 2019). Age was found as a factor that significantly contributed to nurse absenteeism and intent to leave, as younger nurses had reportedly lower levels of job satisfaction than older nurses while having lower levels of experience (Burmeister et al., 2019). This body of findings is significant, indicating age as a determinant of turnover intention and absenteeism, even across various international countries.

Aside from age, research has shown that education has a vital role in turnover intention. Researchers have noted that the level of educational attainment influences the turnover intention among employees (Adebiyi et al., 2020; Yakubu, 2018). Employees with high levels of educational attainment are more likely to leave their organizations and have lower levels of organizational commitment (Labrague et al., 2018a; Yakubu, 2018). Labrague et al. (2018b) defined education as significantly associated with turnover intention due to low levels of organizational commitment. Su (2020) reported similar results when examining the psychometric properties of the Turnover Intention Scale. The author conducted a cross-sectional study in Chinese cities and found that, in the tested models for predicting turnover intentions of social workers, educational attainment was a significant predictor (Su, 2020). The findings also showed that employees with higher levels of educational attainment reported significantly higher levels of turnover intention, as measured through the Turnover Intention Scale (Su, 2020). Su (2020) showed that employees with a higher level of educational attainment also had lower levels of job satisfaction.

In addition to Su (2020), Ju and Li (2019) noted similar findings when exploring the impact of training, job tenure, and education-job and skills-job matches on employee turnover intention. The authors employed 1,531 respondents in South Korea, examining variables of training, job tenure, education-job match, skills-job match, and turnover intention in their organizations (Ju & Li, 2019). The results showed that employees with higher levels of educational attainment were more likely to have low job satisfaction (Ju & Li, 2019). This finding occurred when the authors compared overeducated employees and adequately educated employees (Ju & Li, 2019). This body of knowledge showed the role of education in influencing turnover intention (Ju & Li, 2019). Turnover can be influenced by education, as well as age, in

varying industries. More research is needed to examine the variable of education on turnover intention, specifically among U.S. nurses.

Yakubu (2018) also underscored the role of education in explaining turnover intentions. The author studied teachers in Tamale Technical University, capturing and analyzing demographic factors of level of education, marital status, age group, gender, income level, and tenure (Yakubu, 2018). The findings showed that level of education could be used to predict the turnover among academic staff; those with higher academic qualifications and educational backgrounds were more likely to leave the university, because they could gain more opportunities and increased incomes outside of the university (Yakubu, 2018).

Similarly, Nursalam et al. (2020) studied turnover intention specifically among nurses. The authors examined the relationship between organizational commitment, personal factors, and burnout syndrome to turnover intention in nurses. Employing 83 nurses, the authors found that only education had a significant relationship with burnout syndrome and, consequently, turnover intention (Nursalam et al., 2020). The authors further concluded that to reduce the levels of nurse turnover in Indonesia, leaders should pay more attention to the nurses' educational characteristics and their emotional and individual needs (Nursalam et al., 2020). Therefore, future researchers should study U.S. nurses and their levels of educational attainment. Yakubu (2018) and Nursalam et al. (2020) did not specifically focus on the level of educational attainment of U.S. nurses and its relationship to their turnover intentions.

Manager Characteristics and Staff Turnover

Researchers have supported the notion that the characteristics of managers have a profound effect on turnover rates (Bass et al., 2018; Malek et al., 2018). Specifically, researchers have stated supportive managers who create and sustain a positive work environment can

decrease employees' intent to leave (Doe et al., 2015; Sabat et al., 2020). Such managers should have emotional intelligence (EI) to adapt to their employees' needs (Doe et al., 2015). Doe et al. (2015) examined this topic further and found that leaders with high EI scores not only result in improved organizational outcomes, but also increased employee satisfaction. In addition to this, Sabat et al. (2020) stated that managers' own beliefs and biases can lead to increased voluntary turnover. Sabat et al. (2020) further discovered that leaders that are effective supervisors can significantly and positively impact staff satisfaction and turnover intention. I found Sabat et al.'s study to be unique because the researchers utilized the perceptions of both employers and employees across four different points in time.

Adding to these findings, managers with adept communication skills can reduce turnover rates (Bass et al., 2018). Bass et al. (2018) noted this after they examined employee retention and turnover in a global software development company. Malek et al. (2018) noted similar outcomes when exploring the impact of managers on employee turnover intentions. The authors focused on the hospitality industry in the southeastern United States and found that management communication and style, as well as manager-employee relationship, are vital in reducing employee turnover (Malek et al., 2018). Malek et al. (2018) concluded leaders needed to supply more training for managers to enhance their effectiveness in communication and leadership style to reduce turnover intentions in their study. Although not healthcare-specific, researchers have argued that characteristics of managers, such as high emotional scores, positive attitude, and advocacy for positive workplace environment, predict leadership effectiveness and thus decrease employee turnover rates (Bass et al., 2018; Malek et al., 2018).

Nurse Managers and Staff Turnover

Acree (2006) acknowledged limited studies focused on nursing leadership and staff nurse retention. Although the current literature remains sparse, researchers have historically linked NMs' characteristics with nursing retention. Researchers have defined strategies to enhance leadership training as important in decreasing nurse turnover (Acree, 2006; Hayward et al., 2016; Pishgooie et al., 2019). Furthermore, research indicates that NM characteristics continue to have a direct impact on nursing turnover rates (Hayward et al., 2016; Pishgooie et al., 2019). For instance, Pishgooie et al. (2019) found a strong correlation between nursing managers' leadership styles and the anticipated turnover of nursing staff, as they examined 1,617 nurses working in government hospitals in Iran. NMs with transactional leadership characteristics improved the level of employee satisfaction, decreasing both nurse stress and anticipated turnover (Pishgooie et al., 2019). Further to this finding, Hayward et al. (2016) recommended that nurse leaders and staff nurses develop relationships that influence a staff nurse's intention to stay on the job. NMs should acknowledge the importance of managing day-to-day operations while fostering relationships with their staff through inspiration, motivation, and cultivation of their greatest potential. There is little consensus on how to develop an NM's leadership style to decrease nursing turnover rates.

More researchers have supported the finding that characteristics of managers are linked to nurse turnover rates. Managers with high managerial qualities can encourage nurse retention (Purdy et al., 2014; Suliman et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2018). Purdy et al. (2014) noted that leaders had defined nursing shortages as influencing patient outcomes, finding the need to retain nurses. The investigation of Purdy et al. (2014) included an analysis of management qualities associated with increased retention. This study took the form of a literature review, drawing upon studies from both PubMed and CINAHL (Purdy et al., 2014). Following a review of the literature, the researchers concluded that specific types of managers were more likely to retain nurses (Purdy et al., 2014). Those managers who used practices of transformational leadership and demonstrated high EI were more likely to retain their staff. These same leaders often could psychologically empower their nurses' staff (Purdy et al., 2014). Consequently, the researchers concluded that employing the right types of managers might encourage increased nurse retention (Purdy et al., 2014). Wang et al. (2018) concurred with these findings, as they defined EI as a forecaster of a person's intent to leave a company. The researchers studied the role of both transformational leadership and EI in retaining nursing staff. A total of 535 Chinese nurses were drawn for a sample (Wang et al., 2018). The researchers drew their data from this sample and, following analysis, concluded that transformational leadership was a predictor of employee retention, which is consistent with the findings of Purdy et al. (2014; Wang et al., 2018).

Similarly, Suliman et al. (2020) aimed to examine the impact of NMs' leadership characteristics and styles on predicted nurse turnover. Through a descriptive, cross-sectional, and correlational approach, the authors administered surveys to 280 nurses in three public sector hospitals in Jordan. The findings of their study showed that leaders that are inspiring and motivating significantly reduced overall predicted nurse turnover (Suliman et al., 2020). Heidari et al. (2017) concurred, noting that NMs who provide support to their staff result to positive outcomes, such as job satisfaction and decreased turnover intention of nurses. As such, a leader with transformational characteristics, such as being motivational and inspiring, and those who exercise high levels of EI can positively influence a worker's intentions to remain on the job (Purdy et al., 2014; Suliman et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2018). Overall, it can be concluded that leaders who are motivational and inspirational could significantly decrease the turnover intentions of nurses (Heidari et al., 2017; Suliman et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2018).

Promoting Retention

Research indicated an association between turnover, turnover cognitions, turnover intentions, and actual turnover (Nei et al., 2015). Nei et al. (2015) conducted a meta-analytic assessment to understand the strongest predictors of voluntary turnover based on data from 106 primary studies. Following the analysis of the data, the researchers concluded that several ways of promoting retention could exist. When nurses perceived that their leadership supported their decisions and kept open lines of communication, nurses were more likely to stay. Moreover, nurses who experienced organizational commitment would stay on the job. However, as job strain, role tension, lack of team cohesion, and work-family conflicts increased, the chances of turnover were likely to increase. The research team also identified other variables, such as job complexity, as predicting turnover (Nei et al., 2015). The findings showed that factors that produced job strain were predictive of turnover, but nurses acknowledged identifiable factors could encourage retention.

Leaders may use multiple ways to improve retention. Leaders may promote retention by reducing the patient workload (Subramony et al., 2018). Therefore, leaders can promote retention by increasing staffing. Researchers also recommended increasing flexible scheduling to increase workplace satisfaction, which may contribute to retaining nurses (Armstrong et al., 2017). Studies have also shown that commitment to the job increased when nurses felt more involved in their jobs (Armstrong et al., 2017).

Leaders can use one tactic for promoting retention based on unit-level nurse data (Park & Boyle, 2015). Although general trends may contribute to an understanding of the factors that

influence nurse turnover intentions across multiple hospitals, individual hospital leaders may determine specific factors within their organizations that impact turnover intentions among nurses. Park and Boyle (2015) collected data from the National Database of Nursing Quality Indicators, using surveys from 178 hospitals. The results indicated that most hospital leaders surveyed either *agreed* or *strongly agreed* that they could use quality unit-level data. Hospital leaders used these data to learn about turnover and the stress of certain factors within their organizations (Park & Boyle, 2015). The researchers suggested that hospital leaders collecting unit-level data would more easily show burdens that promoted turnover.

Leaders increasing levels of organizational justice and highlighting personal demographic characteristics can encourage nurse retention (Chen et al., 2018; Matarid et al., 2018). Chen et al. (2018) and Kash et al. (2010) noted that nursing shortages had started influencing patient outcomes and that retaining nurses was critical. Kash et al. (2010) explained that healthcare organization leaders should consider nurse job satisfaction, perceived empowerment, and education level when developing ways to retain nurses in nursing homes and hospitals. Similarly, researchers have concluded that leaders required critical interventions to address the factors that could impact intent to stay to retain nurses (Alsubhi et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2018). Sasso et al. (2019) proposed more efforts to increase nurses' positive perceptions of quality and safety of care, providing opportunities for nurses to perform core nursing activities to increase their job satisfaction levels. This body of knowledge showed how to decrease the risk of nurses' intentions to leave, which leaders could use for averting nursing shortages. More researchers should incorporate demographic factors in their studies to show that hospital efforts and interventions can potentially increase nurse retention.

Summary

NMs in the healthcare industry may have emotionally draining experiences. As a result, many nurses experience burnout, and leaders face high turnover (Armstrong et al., 2017; Duffield et al., 2014; Kovner et al., 2014; Subramony et al., 2018). Researchers have defined multiple factors as contributing to nurse retention, with demographic factors defined as influencing retaining nurses (Hoonakker et al., 2013; Van der Heijden et al., 2018). Examining demographics of NMs could lead to increased knowledge and better understanding of how to influence retention positively within a nursing unit. However, the literature is mostly lacking information about the association between nurse turnover intentions and NM age, education, gender, and tenure among U.S. nurses.

Some researchers have linked positive attitudes and increased organizational commitment to decreased turnover intentions among nurses; however, there is a lack of literature regarding specific demographic factors that significantly impact turnover among nurses (Labrague et al., 2018a, 2018b). Research among nurses has shown why they leave their jobs and professions, with many reasons linked to stress and burnout. However, researchers have linked several NM factors that seem to reduce nurse turnover, including reducing patient workload, increasing flexible scheduling, and increasing nursing engagement (Dyrbye et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2017).

Younger nurses with higher levels of educational attainment are more likely to encourage increased retention (Labrague et al., 2018a; Labrague et al., 2018b) while NMs' leadership characteristics, such as experience and leadership styles, have a significant effect on staff nurse turnover (Majeed & Jamshed, 2020; Van der Heijden et al., 2019). However, there was little in the literature about this topic among U.S. nurses (Smith et al., 2019). Consequently, there

remains a gap in the literature about this relationship, specifically how age, gender, tenure, and education among NMs impacts staff turnover intentions. Chapter 3 includes the research design, sample, tests, and the data analysis plan conceived to address this study's research questions. I gathered data from nurses and data analysis to better understand the relationship between nurse turnover intentions and NMs' ages, genders, tenure, and education levels.

Chapter 3: Research Methods and Design

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between nurse turnover rates and med-surg NMs' ages, gender, tenure, levels of education. Leaders who face med-surg turnover generate substantial recruitment and training costs (Galletta et al., 2013), poor patient outcomes (Choi et al., 2011), and lower nurses' engagement (Roche et al., 2015). Researchers have linked demographic factors to turnover rates in many fields, but there is limited research within nursing (Soomro, 2020). In future research suggestions, Soomro (2020) and Labrague et al. (2018a) encouraged researchers to explore demographic factors in relation to nursing turnover.

Research Approach and Design

I used a quantitative nonexperimental correlational research design to examine research questions intended to study the relationship between nursing turnover rates and NMs' ages, genders, tenure, and levels of education. Researchers base their quantitative research designs on a postpositivist interpretive framework grounded in the scientific method (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015). Postpositivist researchers rely on empirical data collected using standardized measures and inferential statistics to test hypotheses. Key assumptions for using postpositivism include knowledge formed from empirical instruments for data collection, evidence, and reflection (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015); thus, I examined relationships between variables using hypotheses testing, validity, reliability, and repeatability critical for generalizing findings.

Quantitative researchers find designs appropriate when they have clearly defined and empirically measurable variables. Such researchers must clearly state the research problem as testable using hypotheses, with a desire for generalizable findings (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015). Nonexperimental design researchers do not manipulate an independent variable and random assignment of participants, and research questions involve a nonassociative statistical relationship between variables, such as correlations (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015). Researchers can use correlational research designs to test empirical relationships between variables, with data collection for each variable sufficiently close in time to create an exogenous variable (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015).

Based on the study's purpose and research questions, the current researcher used a nonexperimental, correlational research design as the most rigorous quantitative approach found appropriate for this study. The turnover rate represented the dependent variable, while the independent variables included NMs' ages, genders, tenure, and levels of educational attainment. I analyzed demographic descriptive and correlational inferential data and statistics to test hypotheses. The research questions and hypotheses included the following:

RQ1: What is the relationship between NMs' educational level and their units' turnover rates?

*H*₀*1***:** There is no statistically significant relationship between the educational level of NMs and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the educational level of NMs and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ2: What is the relationship between NMs' tenure and their units' turnover rates?

 H_{02} : There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' tenure and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a2 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' tenure and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ3: What is the relationship between the NMs' age and their units' turnover rates?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' age and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a3 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' age and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ4: What is the relationship between NMs' gender and their units' turnover rates?

*H*₀**4**: There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' gender and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a 4: There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' gender and nursing turnover rates on their units.

Population

The population consisted of approximately 1,200 med-surg NMs. The population resided in the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex (BLS, 2018).

Sample

I used a purposive sampling technique to recruit the participants. Researchers use the purposive sample technique to gather a nonprobability sample based on specific characteristics of the study purpose and population (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015). Purposive sampling techniques are less rigorous than random sampling techniques due to the potential for unconscious researcher bias and participant self-selection bias; moreover, the sample may not represent the entire population. I determined that using a random sample would be impractical based on the study population and minimum sample size.

Minimum Sample Size

I used G*Power to determine a minimum sample size of 116 participants. The calculations were based on a two-tailed test, a medium effect size of .3, an alpha of .0125, and an

a priori power of .8. These parameters yielded an a priori sample size of 116, which means that at least 116 valid participants would be needed for the test results to be generalizable (Appendix A).

Setting and Context of the Study

The setting of the study included medical/surgical units at 100+ hospitals and surgical centers. These centers were located in North Texas, specifically the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex. I asked NMs to participate by completing online surveys hosted on a SurveyMonkey portal.

Instrumentation

The instruments included a researcher-developed demographic survey (Appendix C). I asked the participants to respond to a demographic survey used to gather data on age, gender, educational attainment, and years as a manager. Table 1 shows the operationalization and measurement for all study variables. The ratio variable included unit turnover. The continuous variable included age, and the categorical variables included educational attainment and gender.

Table 1

Variable	Scales of measurement	Variable type	Source	
Unit turnover rate	Ratio	Dependent variable	Turnover ratio	
Age	Continuous	Independent variable	Demographic survey	
Educational attainment	Categorical	Independent variable	Demographic survey	
Years as manager	Continuous	Independent variable	Demographic survey	
Gender	Categorical	Independent variable	Demographic survey	

Variables, Scales of Measurement, Variable Type, and Operationalization

Turnover Rate

I measured the NMs' turnover rates by the participants' self-disclosed 12-month turnover rate. I defined this rate as the number of nurses who left for any reason over the preceding 12-month period based on other research (see Nei et al., 2015).

Independent Variables

I treated NMs' ages, educational levels, gender, and tenure as independent variables based on earlier researchers who noted that age and educational attainment were related to turnover intentions (Labrague et al., 2018a, 2018b). I defined age as an independent variable. I defined educational level as ordinal by using the following categories: $1 = associates \ degree$, $2 = college \ degree$, and $3 = master \ s \ degree$.

Data Collection Procedures

After institutional review board (IRB) approval, I created a mailing list of med-surg NMs from publicly available databases and a recruitment email (Appendix A) for participation. The participants selected an active link in the recruitment email, leading to surveys hosted on a

SurveyMonkey portal page. The participants completed the demographic survey. After one week, additional email requests were resent, requesting med-surg NM participation. The inclusion criteria for the study consisted of being employed as the NM on a medical/surgical unit for a minimum of 12 months to cover the period for calculating unit turnover.

Data Analysis Plan

I imported data gathered in the study to SPSS v.26.0 to prepare for data analyses. I then used frequencies and percentages to describe the participants based on their demographic characteristics and also used frequencies and percentages to describe the participants' responses in the demographic survey. I conducted Spearman's correlation analyses to examine the relationship of ages and years as a manager with turnover rates and to address the research questions posed in the study because of the ordinal variables. Spearman's correlation analyses were also conducted (see Table 2) to examine the relationship of gender and educational attainment with the turnover rate because of the categorical and ordinal variables. I measured the strength of an association between two variables: The value r = 1 represented a perfect positive correlation, and the value r = -1 represented a perfect negative correlation (see Leedy & Ormrod, 2015). Bonferroni correction was applied to handle the increased risk of a Type 1 error in conducting multiple statistical tests. Thus, a significance level of .0125 instead of .05 was used for all analyses. A significance level of .0125 was selected as there were four independent variables measured throughout data analysis.

Table 2

Statistical Tests for Null Hypotheses

Hypothesis	Variables	Statistic
H_o1 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the educational level of NMs and nursing turnover rates on their units	Turnover rate, educational attainment	Spearman's correlation analysis
H_o2 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' tenure and nursing turnover rates on their units.	Turnover rate, tenure	Spearman's correlation analysis
H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' age and nursing turnover rates on their units.	Turnover rate, age	Spearman's correlation analysis
H_0 4: There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' gender and nursing turnover rates on their units.	Turnover rate, gender	Spearman's correlation analysis

Ethical Considerations

I asked the Abilene Christian University's IRB to review the research to ensure all ethical aspects related to the research were met. All data will be stored on a password-protected website, with electronic data stored on a secure hard drive for three years. All information provided by the participants will remain secure and confidential. I did not collect data until approval from Abilene Christian University's IRB.

All participants gave informed consents before participating. The applicants could participate solely voluntarily. The consent indicated the research procedures, risks, benefits, and discussion of confidentiality practices. Individuals or by hospital leaders employing the NMs did not individually identify NMs. I did not provide incentives for the NMs to participate. The NMs could receive a summary of their responses from the demographic questionnaire.

Assumptions

The use of Pearson correlation statistics showed the normal distribution (skewness and kurtosis) of variables. If data were abnormally distributed, I conducted Spearman's correlation analysis, the non-parametric counterpart of Pearson's. I conducted Spearman's correlation for ordinal and categorical variables, such as age, years as manager, educational attainment and gender, respectively (see Leedy & Ormrod, 2015).

Summary and Preview of the Next Chapter

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between nursing turnover rates and med-surg NMs' ages, genders, tenure, and levels of education. The setting of the study entailed Texas-based medical/surgical units at 100+ hospital and surgical centers in North Texas. I recruited for a minimum purposive sample of 119 med-surg NMs from a population of approximately 1,200 to address the quantitative research questions.

Chapter 4: Presentation and Analysis of Data

This chapter includes the data collected by the systematic application of quantitative research methodology. I conducted a quantitative study to examine the relationship between nurse turnover and med-surg NMs' ages, genders, tenure, and levels of education. This chapter includes a presentation of the research conducted, results of the data collection and analysis, and a summary of findings. The research questions and hypotheses guiding this study included the following:

RQ1: What is the relationship between NMs' educational level and their units' turnover rates?

*H*₀1: There is no statistically significant relationship between the educational level of NMs and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the educational level of NMs and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ2: What is the relationship between NMs' tenure and their units' turnover rates?

*H*₀**2:** There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' tenure and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' tenure and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ3: What is the relationship between the NMs' age and their units' turnover rates?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' age and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 H_a3 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' age and nursing turnover rates on their units.

RQ4: What is the relationship between NMs' gender and their units' turnover rates?

*H*₀**4:** There is no statistically significant relationship between the NMs' gender and nursing turnover rates on their units.

 $H_a 4$: There is a statistically significant relationship between the NMs' gender and nursing turnover rates on their units.

Data Collection Process

The participants included med-surg NMs recruited from the Dallas-Ft. Worth metroplex, with approximately 1,200 med-surg NMs in the area (BLS, 2018). I was able to obtain email addresses for approximately 800 med-surg NMs and sent them an invitation to participate through direct email addresses. The respondents had to join a SurveyMonkey portal to receive the study information by clicking the consent button on the Informed Consent Agreement before beginning the online assessments. Data was derived from the participants through a SurveyMonkey link. The participants completed the demographic survey by entering their ages, educational attainment, and unit turnover rates. SurveyMonkey automatically compiled the data and exported it to a spreadsheet for analysis.

Data Analysis

Among the 800 med-surg NMs invited to participate in the study, a total of 91 participants responded to the demographic survey questionnaires resulting in a response rate of 11.4%. Based on the post hoc power analysis, considering a two-tailed test for a correlation analysis with a p = .0125, the sample of 91 participants resulted to a power of 67.35% (Appendix B). This indicated that there is a 32.65% chance of having a statistically insignificant relationship between the variables when there is a significant relationship in reality. A total of 80 female (87.9%) and 11 male participants (12.1%) responded to the questionnaires (see Table 3).

Regarding educational attainment, about 50.5% of the participants completed a Master of Science in Nursing degree (n = 46), 48.4% of participants completed a Bachelor of Science in Nursing degree (n = 44), and 1.1% of participants completed an Associate's Degree in Nursing (n = 1).

Table 3

Frequencies and Percentages of Gender and Educational Attainment (N = 91)

	Category	f	%
Gender	Male	11	12.1
	Female	80	87.9
	Total	91	100.0
Educational Attainment	Associates Degree in Nursing	1	1.1
	Bachelor of Science in Nursing	44	48.4
	Master of Science in Nursing	46	50.5
	Total	91	100.0

Table 4 presents the descriptive statistics of age, years as manager, and turnover. The participants identified their ages as ranging from 26 to 71 years old, with a mean of 44.73 years old (SD = 9.67). The participants identified their years as managers as ranging from 1 year to 45 years, with a mean of 8.89 years (SD = 7.86). Regarding turnover, the ranges went from 0 to 28, with a mean of 11.55 (SD = 6.82).

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics of Age, Years as Manager, and Turnover (N = 91)

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	М	SD
Age	91	26	71	44.73	9.67
Years as Manager	91	1	45	8.89	7.86
Turnover	91	0	28	11.55	6.82

I used inferential statistics to test the hypotheses in the study and used Pearson's correlation analyses to test the relationship between identified variables. Relationships between

demographic characteristics and turnover using correlation analyses were then investigated. I calculated Spearman's correlations for ordinal demographic characteristics (e.g., age and years as a manager). Additionally, I used Spearman's r_s correlation analyses for nominal demographic characteristics, such as tenure, age, gender, and educational attainment.

The first set of hypotheses showed the relationship between the NMs' educational level and their units' turnover rates. Spearman's correlations were then calculated between educational level and turnover rates. The result showed a negative association between educational attainment and turnover rates (Spearman's $r_s(91) = -.251$, p = .016). However, the relationship was insignificant at a *p*-value of .0125. Therefore, there was insufficient evidence to reject the first null hypothesis posed in the study.

The second set of hypotheses showed the relationship between the NMs' tenure and their units' turnover rates. Spearman's correlations between years as manager and turnover rates showed a significant negative correlation between years as a manager and turnover rates (Spearman's $r_s(91) = -.262$, p = .012). The result indicated that NMs who had greater years as managers had lower turnover rates. I gathered enough evidence to reject the second null hypothesis in the study.

The third set of hypotheses showed the relationship between the NMs' ages and their units' turnover rates. Spearman's correlations between age and turnover rates resulted in a negative association between age and turnover (Spearman's $r_s(91) = -.273$, p = .009). I also determined the result to be significant, indicating that older NMs had lower turnover rates. Therefore, I found sufficient evidence to reject the third null hypothesis posed in the study.

The fourth set of hypotheses showed the relationship between the NMs' genders and their units' turnover rates. I conducted Spearman's correlation analysis between gender and turnover rates. The result of the analyses showed a negative association occurred between gender and turnover; however, I found the relationship insignificant (Spearman's $r_s(91) = -.103$, p > .05). Therefore, I found insufficient evidence to reject the fourth null hypothesis posed in the study.

Table 5

Spearman's Correlation Matrix for Age, Years as Manager, Gender, Educational Attainment and Turnover (N = 91)

Test	Variable	Turnover
Spearman's r_s	Age	273*
	Years as Manager	262*
	Gender	103
	Educational Attainment	251

Note. **p* < .0125 (2-tailed).

Summary

I conducted the quantitative study to examine the relationship between med-surg NMs' ages, genders, tenure, levels of education, and nurse turnover rates. A total of 91 participants responded to the demographic surveys questionnaires. The participants included med-surg NMs recruited from the Dallas-Ft. Worth metroplex. I used inferential statistics to test the hypotheses posed in the study. The first set of hypotheses showed the relationship between the NMs' educational levels and their units' turnover rates. The result of the analyses showed a negative association between educational attainment and turnover rates; however, the relationship was insignificant, $r_s(91) = -.251$, p = .016. The second set of hypotheses showed the relationship between a significant negative association between years as a manager and turnover rates, $r_s(91) = -.262$, p = .012. The third set of hypotheses showed the relationship between the NMs' ages and their units' turnover rates. Showed a negative association between years as a manager and turnover rates, $r_s(91) = -.262$, p = .012. The third set of hypotheses showed the relationship between the NMs' ages and their units' turnover rates. Showed a negative association between age and

turnover, $r_s(91) = -.273$, p = .009. The fourth set of hypotheses showed the relationship between the NMs' genders and their units' turnover rates. The result of the analyses showed a negative association between gender and turnover; however, I found the relationship insignificant, $r_s(91)$ = -.103, p = .332.

In Chapter 5, I provide a comprehensive summary of the analysis. The chapter contains interpretations of the findings and limitations compared to the foreseen limitations in Chapter 1. I present some recommendations for future research and discusses the implications for practice and future studies. Chapter 5 includes a summary of the study's findings and significance.

Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between staff nurse turnover rates and med-surg NMs' ages, genders, tenure, levels of education. Researchers have associated med-surg nursing turnover rates with lower-quality patient care and diminished patient outcomes (Griffiths et al., 2008), poor patient satisfaction (O'Brien-Pallas et al., 2010), and high costs for the hospital (Carter & Tourangeau, 2012). Researchers have supported that the leadership characteristics of NMs have a profound effect on turnover rates (Gormley, 2011; MacKusick & Minick, 2010; Roberge, 2009).

Previous research has indicated that certain NM leadership characteristics are associated with nursing turnover rates (Asamani et al., 2016; Roche et al., 2015). According to Asamani et al. (2016), effective NMs create learning experiences for staff to support job satisfaction among subordinate employees, aid employees in reaching their highest potential, and create opportunities for career development to accommodate personal priorities. Asamani et al. defined NMs' characteristics, such as charisma, intellectual stimulation, and inspirational motivation for staff, as having some of the greatest effects on nursing turnover rates. Although not healthcare specific, researchers also showed that high emotional scores could be used to predict leadership effectiveness and decrease employee turnover rates (Abdul & Ehiobuche, 2011; Walter et al., 2011).

This chapter includes a discussion of results from data analysis. This chapter includes both a summary and interpretation of study findings, as well as detailed information on theoretical and methodological limitations. Recommendations for existing practice and future research follows. Then, I elucidate some implications of the study results. Finally, this chapter contains a brief conclusion of the study.

Summary of Findings

I recruited 91 participants to complete this study. The participants began by answering a demographic survey, which included information on gender, educational attainment, and age. Additionally, through the demographic survey, the participants answered the number of years they spent as an acting NM. I analyzed demographic surveys using descriptive statistics. The results showed a large discrepancy regarding gender, as 88% of the participants identified as female. When considering educational attainment, approximately 50.5% of NMs had achieved a Master of Science in Nursing, while an estimated 49.4% of participants held a Bachelor of Science in Nursing. Additionally, one participant reported earning an associate degree in nursing.

Overall, the ages, experiences, and turnover rates reported by the participants varied widely. The age of participants largely differed, from 26 years of age to 71 years of age, with the average age estimated at 45 years. Similarly, the number of years the participants had held an NM position varied. Some NMs had as little as one year of experience, while other participants reported as many as 45 years within their respective positions. Finally, the participants reported on their nursing units' respective turnover rates. Some participants reported no employee turnover, while other participants described turnover rates as high as 28%.

I analyzed data from the demographic surveys using inferential statistics beginning with Pearson's correlation analyses to test the relationship between identified variables, such as ages and years of experience. Then I investigated relationships between demographic characteristics and turnover using Spearman's r_s correlation analyses for nominal demographic characteristics, such as tenure, gender, age, and educational attainment. Using demographic data, I tested the relationship between the NMs educational level and turnover rates of respective units. However,

there was no statistical significance between NMs educational level and turnover rate within their units.

The second research question showed the relationship between NM years of experience and staff turnover rate within respective nursing units. Using a Spearman's correlation to test the hypothesis, a significant negative relationship occurred between NM tenure and turnover rate. With a significantly significant relationship, the null hypothesis could be rejected.

The third research question showed if there was a relationship between NM age and turnover in respective units. I used a Spearman's correlation to test data regarding the relationship between NM age and staff turnover. The results indicated a statistically significant negative relationship between NM age and turnover rates. Thus, the older the NM, the less turnover experienced among staff.

Lastly, the fourth research question showed if there was a relationship between NM gender and turnover in respective units. Also, I used a Spearman's correlation to test the data set regarding the relationship between NM gender and staff turnover.

Interpretations of Findings

The results of this study indicated that some sociodemographic variables, such as educational level and age, could impact the rates of turnover in NM units. First, I did not find any statistically significant relationship between increased NM education and reduced employee turnover within their units. Researchers have defined high levels of job satisfaction as a strong indicator of reduced turnover (Buccheri, 1986; Duxbury et al., 1984; Hayward et al., 2016; Kim & Lee, 2014). While one can infer that NMs with higher educational levels possess increased knowledge and skills to facilitate positive working environments and increase job satisfaction among employees, including how to balance nurse workload associated with a reduction in nurse turnover (Subramony et al., 2018), findings suggest that this relationship is not statistically significant when considering nurse turnover.

I could establish that NM age influenced employee turnover, as older NMs were less likely to experience turnover. This finding was also consistent with findings of prior research, as relationships between age might indicate creating suitable work environments and possessing desirable leadership traits. Buccheri (1986) found a strong correlation with staff nurse turnover and satisfaction with their respective NM. As younger NMs would more likely experience higher turnover rates, one can infer that they are too young to create environments that adequately facilitate job satisfaction (Buccheri, 1986; Duxbury et al., 1984). Similarly, Fletcher (2001) found that unreliable NMs also negatively influenced job satisfaction. As youth anecdotally could indicate reduced levels of reliability, findings of this study were congruent with the findings of Fletcher (2001).

Confounding the relationship among NM educational level, age, and turnover is the influence of tenure of the NM and turnover of nursing staff. The impact of the tenure of NMs on nurse turnover was the focus of the second research question. The findings indicated that although a significant negative relationship was observed, researchers found tenure a significant indicator of turnover of nurses within the unit. Thus, NMs' ages may interoperate with NM tenure to create job satisfaction among employees, resulting in reduced turnover (Hayward et al., 2016).

Limitations

There were several limitations in this study. The first limitation involved using self-report tools to collect data. Self-report tools are beneficial to studies wishing to collect opinions, thoughts, or beliefs from participants. However, self-report measures are prone to a phenomenon known as social desirability bias, in which participants answer questions about how they believe they should, regardless of accuracy (Chung & Monroe, 2003). Although this issue is wellmitigated using informed consent and emphasis on truthfulness from the researcher, social desirability bias may impact study findings and reduce the validity of the study (Chung & Monroe, 2003).

In addition, I chose a sampling strategy that caused some limitations. According to the BLS (2018), the Dallas- Fort Worth metroplex at that time employed 1,200 med-surg NMs. I was able to obtain approximately 800 med-surg NM email addresses through publicly accessible databases. The decrease in the total number of potential respondents might make it difficult to generalize results to the entire population within this area. The response rate of 11.4% also might make the results difficult to generalize to the local geographic area. All sample participants came from med-surg NMs in the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex. As all participants derived from the same medical complex, the results of this study might not be generalizable outside of this complex, nor in medical complexes in other localities. Additionally, the study's results could not be generalized outside the med-surg NM population. I estimated the original sample size at 119 participants; however, only 91 individuals participated. The reduction in the number of participants could also impact the validity of study findings. Finally, I recruited all participants using a purposive sampling method—a less rigorous sampling method than others (see Leedy & Ormrod, 2015). However, I found purposive sampling beneficial to recruiting persons with desirable traits. Still, there existed the potential for researcher bias, and the participants selected might not represent the overall population (see Leedy & Ormrod, 2015).

Recommendations for Future Research

There are many avenues for future research. Future researchers may want to replicate this study with participants from multiple med-surg organizations. Additionally, researchers using more participants may understand relationships better between variables. Future researchers should explore the results of this study to show how NM tenure and age impact turnover intention among nursing staff to understand better the perceptions of nursing staff. Finally, future researchers should recreate this study with the addition of more sociodemographic factors for NMs and more information regarding demographic variables for nurses who have ceased employment to gain a more detailed description of how these factors interoperate to impact nursing staff turnover.

Implications

Leaders can use the results of this study to inform current practices for med-surg nursing. The results showed a relationship between increased age and higher levels of education among NMs. Leaders of current practices can use this information in a few ways. First, med-surg complex leaders may be more apt to hire older NMs to reduce employee turnover within respective units. Additionally, med-surg complex leaders can invest more resources in aiding younger or less educated NMs in facilitating more positive workplaces and creating increased job satisfaction among employees. With increased job satisfaction, leaders can likely reduce turnover rates among nursing staff (Buccheri, 1986; Duxbury et al., 1984; Hayward et al., 2016; Kim & Lee, 2014).

Leaders of current practices may also benefit from developing a better knowledge base of the relationship between NM tenure and employee turnover. The results indicated that a significant negative relationship occurred between NM tenure and employee turnover; thus, leaders of med-surg complexes may reduce employee turnover by relying less on tenure to indicate proficiency within NM positions. By better understanding med-surg nursing turnover rates, leaders of med-surg complexes can increase quality patient care, increase positive patient outcomes, increase patient satisfaction, and lower costs for the hospital, which researchers have correlated with reduced employee turnover (see Carter & Tourangeau, 2012; Griffiths et al., 2008; O'Brien et al., 2010).

Conclusion

In this quantitative study, I examined the relationship among the NM sociodemographic variables of ages, gender, educational levels, and tenure on med-surg nurse turnover. Findings of this study showed that age and tenure were associated with lower levels of nursing staff turnover. Through the completion of this study, I identified variables of nursing turnover to address the predicted shortage of up to 500,000 nurses by 2022 (see American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2014). As researchers expect a shortage of nurses to impact patient care and reduce patient outcomes, this study can be seen as a small step to mitigate the potentially devastating outcomes associated with nursing staff turnover.

References

- Abdul, L., & Ehiobuche, C. (2011). Emotional intelligence and managerial competence. *Insights* to a Changing World Journal, 4, 41–58. <u>https://www.iiste.org/</u>
- Acree, C. M. (2006). The relationship between nursing leadership practices and hospital nursing retention. *Newborn and Infant Nursing Reviews*, 6, 34–40.

https://doi.org/10.1053/j.nainr.2006.02.001

- Adebiyi, T. A., Omolayo, B. O., Akinkuotu, F., & Akinyemi, E. O. (2020). Perceived sociodemographic factors predicting affective commitment and turnover intent of employees in Nigerian insurance organizations. *Gender & Behaviour*, 18(2), 15487–15494.
- Allen, V. D., Bryant, P., & Vardaman, J. (2010). Retaining talent: Replacing misconceptions with evidence-based strategies. *The Academy of Management Perspectives*, 24(2), 48–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/AMP.2010.51827775</u>
- Alsubhi, H., Meskell, P., Shea, D. O., & Doody, O. (2020). Missed nursing care and nurses' intention to leave: An integrative review. *Journal of Nursing Management*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13069</u>
- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2014). *Nursing shortage fact sheet*. <u>http://www.aacn.nche.edu/media-relations/NrsgShortageFS.pdf</u>
- Antwi, Y. A., & Bowblis, J. R. (2016). The impact of nurse turnover on quality of care and mortality in nursing homes: Evidence from the great recession. *American Journal of Health Economics*, 4(2), 131–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/ajhe_a_00096</u>

Armstrong, B., Vardaman, S. A., & Lewis, S. L. (2017). Improving nurse retention in acute care setting. In 44th Biennial Convention 2017 Theme: Influence through action: Advancing global health, nursing, and midwifery.

https://sigma.nursingrepository.org/handle/10755/623292

- Arslan Yürümezoğlu, H., Kocaman, G., & Mert Haydarİ, S. (2019). Predicting nurses' organizational and professional turnover intentions. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, *16*(3), 274–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jjns.12236</u>
- Asamani, J., Naab, F., & Ofei, A. (2016). Leadership styles in nursing management: Implications for staff outcomes. *Journal of Health Sciences*, 6(1), 23–36. https://doi.org/10.17532/jhsci.2016.266
- Bakker, A. B. (2007). The job demands-resources model. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 22, 309–328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940710733115</u>
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2017). Job demands–resources theory: Taking stock and looking forward. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(3), 273–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000056</u>
- Bass, J. M., Sarah, B., Razzak, M. A., & Noll, J. (2018, May). Employee retention and turnover in global software development: Comparing in-house offshoring and offshore outsourcing. In 2018 IEEE/ACM 13th International Conference on Global Software Engineering (pp. 77–86). IEEE.
- Bello, B. A., Ologbenla, P., & Okenesi, O. F. (2020). Demographic factors and labor turnover in Honda manufacturing limited Ota, Ogun State Nigeria. *Business Excellence and Management*, 10(2), 18–31. <u>https://www.ceeol.com/</u>

- Brewer, C. S., Kovner, C. T., Greene, W., Tukov-Shuser, M., & Djukic, M. (2012). Predictors of actual turnover in national sample of newly licensed registered nurses employed in hospitals. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 68(3), 521–538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05753.x</u>
- Buccheri, R. C. (1986). Nursing supervision: A new look at an old role. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, *11*(1), 11–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006216-198601110-00004</u>

Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018). Registered nurses.

https://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/registered-nurses.htm#tab-6

- Burmeister, E. A., Kalisch, B. J., Xie, B., Doumit, M. A., Lee, E., Ferraresion, A., Terzioglu, F., & Bragadóttir, H. (2019). Determinants of nurse absenteeism and intent to leave: An international study. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(1), 143–153.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12659
- Carter, M., & Tourangeau, A. (2012). Staying in nursing: What factors determine whether nurses intend to remain employed? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 68(7), 1589–1600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.05973.x</u>
- Castle, N., & Engberg, J. (2005). Staff turnover and quality of care in nursing homes. *Medical Care*, 43(6), 616–626. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15908857</u>
- Chang, H. Y., Friesner, D., Chu, T. L., Huang, T. L., Liao, Y. N., & Teng, C. I. (2018). The impact of burnout on self-efficacy, outcome expectations, career interest and nurse turnover. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(11), 2555–2565.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13776

- Chen, H., Li, G., Li, M., Lyu, L., & Zhang, T. (2018). A cross-sectional study on nurse turnover intention and influencing factors in Jiangsu Province, China. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 5(4), 396–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2018.09.001</u>
- Choi, S. P., Pang, S. M., Cheung, K., & Wong, T. K. (2011). Stabilizing and destabilizing forces in the nursing work environment: A qualitative study on turnover intention. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 48, 1290–1301.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.03.005

- Chung, J., & Monroe, G. S. (2003). Exploring social desirability bias. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 44(4), 291–302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023648703356</u>
- Ciocco, M. C. (2014). Fast facts for the medical-surgical nurse: Clinical orientation in a nutshell. Springer.
- Collini, S. A., Guidroz, A. M., & Perez, L. M. (2015). Turnover in health care: The mediating effects of employee engagement. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23(2), 169–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12109</u>
- Cowden, T., Cummings, G., & Profetto-McGrath, J. (2011). Leadership practices and staff nurses' intent to stay: A systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 19(4), 461– 477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2011.01209</u>
- Dawson, A. J., Stasa, H., Roche, M. A., Homer, C. S., & Duffield, C. (2014). Nursing churn and turnover in Australian hospitals: Nurses perceptions and suggestions for supportive strategies. *BioMed Central Nursing*, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6955-13-11</u>
- Doe, R., Ndinguri, E., & Phipps, S. T. (2015). Emotional intelligence: The link to success and failure of leadership. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, *19*(3), 105–114.

https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1P3-3966658001/emotional-intelligence-thelink-to-success-and-failure

- Duffield, C. M., Roche, M. A., Homer, C., Buchan, J., & Dimitrelis, S. (2014). A comparative review of nurse turnover rates and costs across countries. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70(12), 2703–2712. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12483
- Duxbury, M. L., Armstrong, G. D., Drew, D. J., & Henly, S. J. (1984). Head nurse leadership style with staff nurse burnout and job satisfaction in neonatal intensive care units. *Nursing Research*, 33(2), 97–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006199-198403000-00013</u>
- Dyrbye, L. N., Shanafelt, T. D., Sinsky, C. A., Cipriano, P. F., Bhatt, J., Ommaya, A., West, A. C., & Meyers, D. (2017). Burnout among health care professionals: A call to explore and address this under-recognized threat to safe, high-quality care. *NAM Perspectives*, 7(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.31478/201707b</u>
- Emiroğlu, B. D., Akova, O., & Tanrıverdi, H. (2015). The relationship between turnover intention and demographic factors in hotel businesses: A study at five star hotels in Istanbul. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 207, 385–397.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.10.108

Fletcher, C. E. (2001). Hospital RN's job satisfactions and dissatisfactions. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, *31*(6), 324–331.

https://journals.lww.com/jonajournal/Abstract/2001/06000/Hospital_RNs__Job_Satisfact ions_and.11.aspx

Galletta, M., Portoghese, I., Battistelli, A., & Leiter, M. P. (2013). The roles of unit leadership and nurse-physician collaboration on nursing turnover intention. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(8), 1711–1784. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12039</u>
- Gormley, D. (2011). Are we on the same page? Staff nurse and manager perceptions of work environment, quality of care and anticipated nurse turnover. *Journal of Nursing Management, 19*(1), 33–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01163.x</u>
- Griffeth, R., Hom, P., & Gaertner, S. (2000). A meta-analysis of antecedents and correlates of employee turnover: Update, moderator tests, and research implications for the next millennium. *Journal of Management*, 26(3), 463–488.

https://doi.org/10.1177/04920630002600305

- Griffiths, P., Robinson, S., & Murrells, T. (2008). Is satisfaction a direct predictor of nursing turnover? Modelling the relationship between satisfaction, expressed intention and behavior in a longitudinal cohort study. *Human Resources for Health*, 6(1), 22–23. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-4491-6-22
- Hausknecht, J., & Trevor, C. (2011). Collective turnover at the group, unit, and organization levels: Evidence, issues, and implications. *Journal of Management*, 37(1), 352–388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310383910</u>
- Hayes, B., Bonner, A. N. N., & Pryor, J. (2010). Factors contributing to nurse job satisfaction in the acute hospital setting: A review of recent literature. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 18(7), 804–814. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01131.x</u>
- Hayward, D., Bungay, V., Wolff, A. C., & MacDonald, V. (2016). A qualitative study of experienced nurses' voluntary turnover: Learning from their perspectives. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25, 1336–1345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13210</u>
- Heidari, M., Seifi, B., & Gharebagh, Z. A. (2017). Nursing staff retention: Effective factors. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Public Health, 10(6), 1467. <u>https://www.atmph.org/</u>
- Hom, P., & Griffeth, R. (1995). Employee turnover. South-Western College Publishing.

- Hom, P. W., Mitchell, T. R., Lee, T. W., & Griffeth, R. W. (2012). Reviewing employee turnover: Focusing on proximal withdrawal states and an expanded criterion. *Psychological Bulletin*, 138, 831–858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027983</u>
- Hoonakker, P., Carayon, P., & Korunka, C. (2013). Using the job-demands-resources model to predict turnover in the information technology workforce–general effects and gender differences. *Horizons of Psychology*, 22(1), 51–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.20419/2013.22.373</u>
- Iguchi, A. (2016). Job demand and job resources related to the turnover intention of public health nurses: An analysis using a job demands-resources model. *Japanese Journal of Public Health*, 63(5), 227–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.11236/jph.63.5_227</u>
- Jones, C. B., & Gates, M. (2007). The costs and benefits of nurse turnover: A business case for nurse retention. Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 12(3), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3912/OJIN.Vol12No03Man04</u>
- Ju, B., & Li, J. (2019). Exploring the impact of training, job tenure, and education-job and skillsjob matches on employee turnover intention. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 43(3/4), 214–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-05-2018-0045</u>
- Kaiser, S., Patras, J., Adolfsen, F., Richardsen, A. M., & Martinussen, M. (2020). Using the job demands–resources model to evaluate work-related outcomes among Norwegian health care workers. SAGE Open, 10(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020947436</u>
- Karantzas, G. C., Mellor, D., McCabe, M. P., Davison, T. E., Beaton, P., & Mrkic, D. (2012).
 Intentions to quit work among care staff working in the aged care sector. *The Gerontologist*, 52(4), 506–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnr161</u>

- Kash, B. A., Naufal, G. S., Cortés, L., & Johnson, C. E. (2010). Exploring factors associated with turnover among registered nurse (RN) supervisors in nursing homes. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 29(1), 107–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464809335243</u>
- Kelly, L. A., Gee, P. M., & Butler, R. J. (2020). Impact of nurse burnout on organizational and position turnover. *Nursing Outlook*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2020.06.008</u>
- Kim, S. H., & Lee, M. A. (2014). Effects of emotional labor and communication competence on turnover intention in nurses. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing Administration*, 20(3), 332–341. <u>https://doi.org/10.11111/jkana.2014.20.3.332</u>
- Kovner, C. T., Brewer, C. S., Fatehi, F., & Jun, J. (2014). What does nurse turnover rate mean and what is the rate? *Policy, Politics, & Nursing Practice, 15*(3–4), 64–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1527154414547953</u>
- Krausz, M. (2002). The many faces of voluntary employee turnover: A multifacet and multilevel perspective: A field experiment. *Academy of Management Journal*, 24(2), 249–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.10072F978-1-4615-0599-0_3</u>
- Kwon, J. O., & Kang, J. M. (2019). The effect of person-environment fit (person-job fit, personorganization fit, person-supervisor fit) and job embeddedness on turnover intention in clinical nurses. *Journal of the Korea Convergence Society*, *10*(3), 307–317. <u>https://doi.org/10.15207/JKCS.2019.10.3.307</u>
- Labrague, L. J., Gloe, D., McEnroe, D. M., Konstantinos, K., & Colet, P. (2018a). Factors influencing turnover intention among registered nurses in Samar Philippines. *Applied Nursing Research*, 39, 200–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2017.11.027</u>

- Labrague, L. J., McEnroe–Petitte, D. M., Tsaras, K., Cruz, J. P., Colet, P. C., & Gloe, D. S. (2018b). Organizational commitment and turnover intention among rural nurses in the Philippines: Implications for nursing management. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 5(4), 403–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2018.09.001
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2015). *Practical research: Planning and design* (11th ed.). Pearson.
- Lynch, J., & Tuckey, M. (2008). The police turnover problem: Fact or fiction? Policing: An International Journal of Police strategies & Management, 31(1), 6–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13639510810852549</u>
- Ma, C., Shang, J., & Bott, M. J. (2015). Linking unit collaboration and nursing leadership to nurse outcomes and quality of care. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 45(9), 435–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0000000000229</u>
- MacKusick, C., & Minick, P. (2010). Why are nurses leaving? Findings from an initial qualitative study on nursing attrition. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 19(6), 335–340. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21337990</u>
- Magbity, J. B., Ofei, A. M. A., Wilson D. (2020). Leadership styles of nurse managers and turnover intention. *Hospital Topics*, 98(2), 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/00185868.2020.1750324

Majeed, N., & Jamshed, S. (2020. Nursing turnover intentions: The role of leader emotional intelligence and team culture. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 29(2), 229–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13144</u>

- Malek, K., Kline, S. F., & DiPietro, R. (2018). The impact of manager training on employee turnover intentions. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Insights*, 1(3), 203-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JHTI-02-2018-0010</u>
- Matarid, N. M., Sobh, O. S., & Ahmed, U. (2018). The impact of organizational justice and demographics on faculty retention in Bahrain. *Le Travail Humain*, *81*, 1806–1814.
- Mazurenko, O., Gupte, G., & Shan, G. (2015). Analyzing U.S. nurse turnover: Are nurses leaving their jobs or the profession itself? *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 4(4), 1176–1177. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/jha.v4n4p48</u>
- Nei, D., Snyder, L. A., & Litwiller, B. J. (2015). Promoting retention of nurses. *Health Care Management Review*, 40(3), 237–253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/hmr.00000000000025</u>
- Nursalam, N., Ekawati, S., & Wahyudi, A. S. (2020). The association of organizational commitment and personal factor with burnout syndrome and turnover intention in nurses. *Indonesian Nursing Journal of Education and Clinic*, 5(2), 158–165. <u>https://injec.aipni-ainec.org/</u>
- Nursing Solutions. (2018). 2018 National Health Care Retention RN staffing report. <u>http://www.nsinursingsolutions.com/files/assets/library/retention-</u> <u>institute/nationalhealthcarernretentionreport2018.pdf</u>

Obiechina, B. T. (2019). *The relationship between organizational commitment and turnover intention: The moderation effect of constituent attachment* [Doctoral dissertation, Siam University] Siam University Archive. <u>https://e-research.siam.edu/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2019/11/IMBA-2019-Thesis-The-relationship-between-organizational-</u> <u>commitment-and-turnover-intention-edited2.pdf</u> O'Brien, E., Atkins, N., Stergiou, G., Karpettas, N., Parati, G., Asmar, R., Mengden, T., Imai, Y., Waeber, B., Palatini, P., & Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring of the European Society of Hypertension. (2010). European Society of Hypertension International Protocol revision 2010 for the validation of blood pressure measuring devices in adults. *Blood Pressure Monitoring*, *15*(1), 23–38.

https://doi.org/10.1097/MBP.0b013e3283360e98

- O'Brien-Pallas, L., Murphy, G. T., Shamian, J., Li, X., & Hayes, L. (2010). Impact and determinants of nurse turnover: A pan-Canadian study. *Journal of Nursing Management*, *18*(8), 1073–1086. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01167.x</u>
- Omindo, B. A., Gesimba, P., & Gichuhi, D. (2020). Relationship between leadership practices and labour turnover among private schools in Rongai Sub-County, Nakuru-Kenya. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 9(6), 65–76.
 https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v9i6.886
- Parasuraman, S. (1982). Predicting turnover intentions and turnover behavior: A multivariate analysis. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 21(1), 111–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(82)90056-2</u>
- Park, S. H., & Boyle, D. K. (2015). How hospitals view unit-level nurse turnover data collection. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 45(2), 100–106.

https://doi.org/10.1097/nna.000000000000163

Park, S. H., Boyle, D. K., Bergquist-Beringer, S., Staggs, V. S., & Dunton, N. E. (2014). Concurrent and lagged effects of registered nurse turnover and staffing on unit-acquired pressure ulcers. *Health Services Research*, 49(4), 1205–1225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12158</u> Pishgooie, A. H., Atashzadeh-Shoorideh, F., Falcó-Pegueroles, A., & Lotfi, Z. (2019). Correlation between nursing managers' leadership styles and nurses' job stress and anticipated turnover. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(3), 527-534. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12707

- Purdy, E., Macintosh, N., Miguel, M., & Mitchell, T. (2014). What management qualities affect nurse turnover on an inpatient unit? 19th Annual ARC 2014, University of North Georgia. <u>https://digitalcommons.northgeorgia.edu/ngresearchconf/2014/Nursing/8/</u>
- Raup, G. H. (2008). Research: The impact of ED NM leadership style on staff nurse turnover and patient satisfaction in academic health center hospitals. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 34, 403–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2007.08.020
- Rhodes, S. R. (1983). Age-related differences in work attitudes and behavior: A review and conceptual analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *93*(2), 328–367.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.93.2.328

- Rizwan, M., Shahid, M., Shafiq, H., Tabassum, S., Bari, R., & Umer, J. (2013). Impact of psychological factors on employee turnover intentions. *International Journal of Research in Commerce, Economics and Management, 3*(3), 63–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1.1.684.3103</u>
- Roberge, C. (2009). Who stays in rural nursing practice? An international review of the literature on factors influencing rural nurse retention. *Online Journal of Rural Nursing & Health Care*, 9(1), 82–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.14574/ojrnhc.v9i1.107</u>
- Roche, M. A., Duffield, C., Dimitrelis, S., & Frew, B. (2015). Leadership skills for nursing unit managers to decrease intention to leave. *Nursing: Research and Reviews*, 2015(5), 57–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/NRR.S46155</u>

- Sabat, I. E., Goldberg, C., King, E. B., Watson, J., & Zhang, L. (2020). Pygmalion in the pipeline: How managers' perceptions influence racial differences in turnover. *Human Resource Management*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.22044v</u>
- Sasso, L., Bagnasco, A., Catania, G., Zanini, M., Aleo, G., & Watson, R. (2019). Push and pull factors of nurses' intention to leave. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(5), 946–954. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12745</u>
- Smith, J. G., Rogowski, J. A., & Lake, E. T. (2019). Missed care relates to nurse job enjoyment and intention to leave in neonatal intensive care. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 28(8), 1940–1947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12943</u>
- Soomro, M. A. (2020). Demographics and turnover intentions: Can there be any link? *Annals of Contemporary Developments in Management & HR*, 2(3), 9–14. <u>http://www.acdmhr.theiaer.org/</u>
- Spano-Szekely, L., Quinn-Griffin, M. T., Clavelle, J., & Fitzpatrick, J. J. (2016). Emotional intelligence and transformational leadership in NMs. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 46(2), 101–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.00000000000303</u>
- Staggs, V. S., & Dunton, N. (2012). Hospital and unit characteristics associated with nursing turnover include skill mix but not staffing level: An observational cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 49(9), 1138–1145.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.03.009

Stimpfel, A., Sloane, D., & Aiken, L. (2012). The longer the shifts for hospital nurses, the higher the levels of burnout and patient dissatisfaction. *Health Affairs*, 31(1), 2501–2509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.1377</u> Su, X. (2020). Validation of the Chinese version of the turnover intention scale in social workers. Journal of Social Service Research, 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2020.1738312

Subramony, M. V., Chadwick, C., Gowen, C. R., Mcfadden, K., & Vogus, T. J. (2018). Hospital workload, nurse turnover, and patient mortality: A moderated-mediation model. *Academy* of Management Proceedings, 2018(1), Art. 17734.

https://doi.org/10.5465/ambpp.2018.17734abstract

- Subramony, M. V., & Holtom, B. C. (2012). The long-term influence of service employee attrition on customer outcomes and profits. *Journal of Service Research*, 15(4), 460–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670512452792
- Sule, O. E., & Omoankhalen, J. A. (2019). Employee demographic factors and academic staff labour turnover in private higher institutions in Ogun state. *Cross Current International Journal of Economics, Management and Media Studies, 1*(1), 30–38.

http://crosscurrentpublisher.com/ccemms/

- Suliman, M., Almansi, S., Mrayyan, M., ALBashtawy, M., & Aljezawi, M. (2020). Effect of nurse managers' leadership styles on predicted nurse turnover. *Nursing Management*, 27(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nm.2020.e1928</u>
- Sun, R., & Wang, W. (2017). Transformational leadership, employee turnover intention, and actual voluntary turnover in public organizations. *Public Management Review*, 19(8), 1124–1141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2016.1257063</u>
- Takase, M., Teraoka, S., & Yabase, K. (2014). Retaining the nursing workforce: Factors contributing to the reduction of nurses' turnover intention in Japan. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(1), 21–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12266</u>

- Tourigny, L., & Lituchy, T. (2016). On the retention of younger nurses. *Journal of Nursing and Care*, 5(350), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-1168.1000350</u>
- Tschannen, D., Kalisch, B. J., & Lee, K. H. (2010). Missed nursing care: The impact on intention to leave and turnover. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive*, 42(4), 22–39. <u>https://cjnr.archive.mcgill.ca/</u>
- Twigg, D., & McCullough, K. (2014). Nurse retention: A review of strategies to create and enhance positive practice environments in clinical settings. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 51(1), 85–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.05.015</u>
- Van der Heijden, B. I., Peeters, M. C., Le Blanc, P. M., & Van Breukelen, J. W. M. (2018). Job characteristics and experience as predictors of occupational turnover intention and occupational turnover in the European nursing sector. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *108*, 108–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.06.008</u>
- Walter, F., Cole, M., & Humphrey, R. (2011). Emotional intelligence: Sin qua non of leadership or folderol? *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 25(1), 45–59. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMP.2011.59198449
- Wang, L., Tao, H., Bowers, B. J., Brown, R., & Zhang, Y. (2018). When nurse emotional intelligence matters: How transformational leadership influences intent to stay. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 26(4), 358–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12509</u>
- Wilson, J., Dalton, E., Scheer, C., & Grammich, C. (2010). Police recruitment and retention for the new millennium: The state of knowledge. *Rand Corporation*. <u>http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2010/RAND_MG959.pdf</u>

Yakubu, H. (2018). Demographic factors predicting turnover intentions in Tamale Technical University. ADRRI Journal of Arts and Social Sciences, 15(10), 1–25. https://journals.adrri.org/

Yang, H., Lv, J., Zhou, X., Liu, H., & Mi, B. (2017). Validation of work pressure and associated factors influencing hospital nurse turnover: A cross-sectional investigation in Shaanxi Province, China. *BioMed Central Health Services Research*, 17(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2056-z</u>

- Yang, Y., Liu, Y., Liu, J., & Zhang, H. (2015). The impact of work support and organizational career growth on nurse turnover intention in China. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 2(2), 134–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2015.04.006</u>
- Yoo, M. J., & Kim, J. K. (2016). A structural model of hospital nurses' turnover intention: Focusing on organizational characteristics, job satisfaction, and job embeddedness. *Journal of Korean Academic Nursing Administration*, 22(3), 292–302.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.11111/jkana.2016.22.3.292</u>



Appendix A:G*Power Analysis Output



Appendix B: Post Hoc Power Analysis Using G*Power

Appendix C: Demographic Survey

19-108

Demographic Questionnaire content:

Sex: M, F

Age: ____

Educational Level: Associates Degree Nursing, Bachelor of Science in Nursing, Master of

Science in Nursing

Years in Manager Role: _____

Appendix D: IRB Approval Form

ABILENE CHRISTIAN UNIVERSITY

Educating Students for Christian Service and Leadership Throughout the World

Office of Research and Sponsored Programs 320 Hardin Administration Building, ACU Box 29103, Abilane, Texas 79699-9103 325-674-2885

November 12, 2019

John B. Summers Department of Education Abilene Christian University



Dear John,

On behalf of the Institutional Review Board, I am pleased to inform you that your project titled "Nurse Manager Emotional Intelligence, and Medical-Surgical Nurse Turnover",

(IRB# 19-108) is exempt from review under Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects.

If at any time the details of this project change, please resubmit to the IRB so the committee can determine whether or not the exempt status is still applicable.

I wish you well with your work.

Sincerely,

Megan Roth

Megan Roth, Ph.D. Director of Research and Sponsored Programs

Our Promise ACU is a vibrant, internation, Christ-conternal community that engages students in authentic spiritual and intellectual growth, apopping them to make a real difference in the world.